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NATIONAL MUSEUM
GENERAL INFORMATION
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NATIONAL MUSEUM, 
BLOEMFONTEIN

The National Museum in 
Bloemfontein was established in 
1877 and initially its collections 
and displays consisted mainly of 
rarities from around the world.  
Subsequently the Museum has 
developed into an omnibus 
institution with international 

stature.  Intensive research is 
being done and significant study 
collections have been 
assembled in the fields of 
acarology, arachnology, 
botany, entomology, 
herpetology, mammalogy, 
ornithology, palaeo-ecology, 
palaeontology, anthropology, 
archaeology, cultural history, 
rock art and fine arts.  Education 

is a further core function of the 
Museum and is embedded in 
every Museum activity.  Through 
its displays and programmes the 
Museum renders a public service 
for its diverse audiences, 
engaging them in enjoyable and 
enlightening experiences and 
enriching the learning 
opportunities of all individuals.

The National Museum* is a Declared Cultural 
Institution with framework autonomy which 
resorts under the Department of Arts and 
Culture and is governed by a Council.  The 
Museum is a natural history, cultural history and 
art museum which systematically and 
selectively collects examples and information 
relevant to these fields over the whole spectrum 
of prehistory up to the present.  It is its task to 
document, preserve, conserve, restore, make 

available, study and promote such items, 
specimens, examples, collections and 
information.

*Incorporating the satellites: First Raadsaal 
Museum; Florisbad Research Station; Freshford 
House Museum; Oliewenhuis Art Museum; 
Wagon Museum; ArtBank



FLORISBAD QUATERNARY 
RESEARCH STATION
(Satellite of the 
National Museum)

Florisbad is an internationally 
important fossil  locality which 
has produced an archaic 
modern human skull in addition 
to valuable  archaeological and 
palaeontological material.  It is a 
key site for information not only 
on the physical development of 
modern humans, but also on 
their environment and 

subsistence behaviour. In 
September 1912 an earthquake 
opened up a new spring at the 
Florisbad mineral spring, and 
fossil bones and stone artefacts 
were brought to the surface with 
the water.  Robert Broom 
investigated the find and in 1913 
published an article on the 
material.

The discoveries prompted further 
investigations in the 1920s and 
1930s by Prof. T.F. Dreyer from the 
Grey University College in 

Bloemfontein.  This culminated in 
the discovery of the Florisbad 
human cranium in 1932.  Dr A.C. 
Hoffman, Director of the 
National Museum in 
Bloemfontein, carried out further 
work in 1952.  In 1980 Florisbad 
was bought by the South African 
Government for research 
purposes and was placed under 
the administration of the 
National Museum, Bloemfontein.

OLIEWENHUIS ART MUSEUM
(Satellite of the 
National Museum)

On 19 July 1985 the former State 
President, Mr P.W. Botha, handed 
Oliewenhuis to the National 
Museum to be developed into an 
art museum.  Oliewenhuis was 
erected in 1941 as residence of 
the Governor-General of the Union 
of South Africa. It was also used by 
the State Presidents of the 
Republic of South Africa as 

residence when on official visits to 
Bloemfontein.  Later, however, 
Oliewenhuis was no longer used 
and it was thus made available to 
the National Museum.

Several structural changes had to 
be made to develop Oliewenhuis 
into an art museum, which on 
completion was officially opened 
on 11 October 1989.

Oliewenhuis Art Museum collects 
exclusively South African art and 
its collection consists of paintings, 
sculpture and graphic art.  The 
pride of the collection are the 
Pierneef  paintings, especially  the  
magnificent Rustenburg Kloof,  
and the paintings of Bloemfontein 
done by Thomas Baines in 1851, 
only five years after the 
establishment of the town.  The  
Art Museum obtains artworks 
through donations and 
acquisitions.  The City Council of 
Bloemfontein made important 
donations, which were first housed 
at the A.C. White Gallery, and Mrs 
Dora Scott donated the F.P. Scott 
Trust Collection.  The latter 
includes 24 artworks of the 
Bloemfontein Group.
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FIRST RAADSAAL MUSEUM
(Satellite of the 
National Museum)

The British Resident, Maj. H.D. 
Warden, built this typical South 
African pioneer's building in 
1849.  It was the first school 
building north of the Orange 
River.  It served as a church until 
1852 and it was used by the 
Legislative Council of the 
Orange River Sovereignty and, 

from 1854, by the Orange Free 
State Republic as Assembly Hall 
and offices.  When the Assembly 
moved to larger premises in 
1856, the building reverted to its 
use as a school, which it 
remained until 1877.  The little 
building was put to a different 
use once again when in that 
year it housed the newly 
established National Museum.  It 
was vacated in 1915 when the 
Museum moved to its present 

premises, and it was proclaimed 
a National Monument in 1936.  In 
1975 the wheel had turned full 
circle when the old Raadsaal 
was once again vacated and 
transferred to the National 
Museum.

FRESHFORD HOUSE MUSEUM
(Satellite of the 
National Museum)

Freshford is one of the few 
houses of the  upper middle 
class of the Edwardian period                                                                                 
that still exists in Bloemfontein.  
The house  was designed and 
built by the architect, John                                                                      
Edwin Harrison.  Born and trained 
in England, Harrison   immigrated 
to South Africa in 1894.

 Freshford House was completed 
in 1897, i.e. during a transition  
between the Late Victorian and 
Edwardian periods.  With its 
asymmetrical facade, 
unplastered red brick walls, bay 
windows, veranda with carved 
wood and galvanised iron roof 
with cast-iron finishes, Freshford 
House is a typical example of a 
residence during this period in 
Bloemfontein.

The house was acquired by the 
National Museum in 1982, 
restored to its former glory and 
was opened to the public in 
1986. 

5



WAGON MUSEUM
(Satellite of the
National Museum)

The Wagon Museum is situated 
on the same premises as the First 
Raadsaal Museum.  It houses a 
collection of historical wagons 
and carriages, such as a spring 
wagon, Voortrekker ox wagon, 
transport wagon, stage coach, 
mule wagon, spider and Cape 

cart.  In the exhibition area are 
various panels depicting the 
development of transport 
through the ages and the 
making of a wagon wheel.  A 
miniature diorama gives the 
visitor an impression of a team of 
oxen in front of a Voortrekker ox 
wagon.  An exhibit of modes of 
transport used by black people 
has recently been included in 
the Museum.

ART BANK

The Art Bank of South Africa is a 
national programme of the 
Department of Arts and Culture 
as part of the Mzansi Golden 
Economy (MGE) strategy 
implementation and is hosted by 
the National Museum 

Bloemfontein, an agency of the 
Department of Arts and Culture.  
The vision of the Art Bank is to 
promote, foster and stimulate a 
vibrant market for the collection 
of South African contemporary 
visual art.  It is tasked with 
purchasing artworks from South 
African artists, particularly that of 

emerging artists in order to lease 
and sell the artworks to South 
African government 
departments, private companies 
and private individuals.

Photos courtesy of PMenezes & 
GrandEpic.
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AGSA Auditor General of South Africa

MEC Member of Executive Council

BBBEE Broad Based Black  Economic Empowerment

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CFO Chief Financial Officer

PFMA Public Finance Management Act

TR   Treasury Regulations

MTEF Medium Term Expenditure Framework

SMME Small Medium and Micro Enterprises

SCM Supply Chain Management
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Vision 

To be known as the best heritage centre in Africa.

Mission

To provide heritage information, an enjoyable experience and an invaluable tourism resource to all 
people through quality research, conservation, education and exhibitions. 

The Museum's functions are
• Conservation:  To build and curate representative collections of natural science, human 

science and art objects which are consistent with the objectives and activities of the 
Museum.

• Research:  To undertake and promote research in the approved disciplines of the 
Museum.

• Education:  To disseminate information on nature, culture and art, through publications, 
exhibitions and a variety of educational programmes.

• Tourism: To provide an invaluable tourism resource in the central interior of South Africa.

Values

The National Museum is driven by the following values:

• Excellence
• Professionalism
• Respect
• Co-operation
• Teamwork
• Commitment & Passion
• Innovation
• Community empowerment

STRATEGIC OVERVIEW
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Strategic outcome orientated goals

Strategic Outcome Oriented 
Goal 1

Goal Statement

Link to government priorities

Link to DAC focus areas

Strategic objectives flowing 
from this goal

Celebrating the diversity of South Africa's cultural and natural heritage and 
making this accessible to all.

Programme 2 (Strategic Objectives 2.1, 2.2, 2.4, 2.5, 2.6, 2.7, 2.8); Programme 3 
(Strategic Objectives 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6) 

To preserve and promote an inclusive heritage through curation, conservation, 
research and exhibitions of heritage items, thereby contributing to nation 
building, social cohesion and access to heritage information by all South 
Africans.

An efficient, effective and development-orientated public service (Outcome 
12); A diverse, socially cohesive society with a common national identity 
(Outcome 14 - Nation Building and National Identity; Social cohesion); Citizen 
participation - Access to information.

Nation building through effective social cohesion programme implementation; 
A productive, diverse and inclusive ACH Sector (Development, preservation & 
promotion of arts, culture and heritage; Nation building and Social cohesion; 
improved access to information; African Advancement and enhanced 
international cooperation.
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Strategic Outcome Oriented 
Goal 2

Goal Statement

Link to DAC focus areas

Strategic objectives flowing 
from this goal

Link to government priorities

Link to DAC focus areas

Goal Statement

Strategic Outcome Oriented 
Goal 3

Link to government priorities

Providing quality basic education as well as opportunities for lifelong learning.

To produce quality, informative curriculum-based educational programmes, 
outreach activities and materials, and to distribute and communicate these 
through presentation of exhibitions, lessons, guided tours, educator training 
workshops, via Mobile Museum trips and through regular media coverage.

Quality Basic Education (Outcome 1)

A professional and capacitated ACH Sector; A productive, diverse and 
inclusive ACH Sector; Nation building through effective social cohesion 
programme implementation (Skills development; Economic development; 
Improved basic education)

Programme 3 (Strategic Objectives 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6)

Providing (limited) heritage skills development and employment opportunities.

A professional and capacitated ACH Sector (Skills development; Economic 
development)

Strategic objectives flowing 
from this goal

Programme 2 (Strategic Objectives 2.3, 2.9)

Decent employment through inclusive economic growth; economic upliftment 
(Outcome 4)

Develop skills through workshop attendance, in-service training and mentorship 
programmes, leading to improved employment opportunities.

Link to government priorities

Link to DAC focus areas

Goal Statement

Strategic Outcome Oriented 
Goal 4

Rural job creation linked to educational outreach, skills development and 
promotion of economic livelihoods through development of heritage tourism.

Nation building through effective social cohesion programme implementation; 
A productive, diverse and inclusive ACH Sector (Development, preservation & 
promotion of arts, culture and heritage; Nation building and Social cohesion; 
Skills development; Economic development)

Strategic objectives flowing 
from this goal

Programme 3 (Strategic Objectives 3.4, 3.5, 3.6)

Vibrant, equitable and sustainable rural communities contributing towards food 
security for all; rural development (Outcome 7).

Skills development, mentoring and support for heritage site guides from local 
communities to retain heritage information in situ, to empower South Africans 
and to facilitate access to economic benefit.
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The National Museum was established in terms of section 3 of the Cultural Institutions Act (Act 
119 of 1998) and in terms of section 5 it is governed by a Council appointed by the Minister of 
Arts and Culture.

LEGISLATIVE & OTHER MANDATES

ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE 

Department of Arts and Culture

Council of the National Museum

CEO

Deputy
Director

Chief Financial
Officer

HOD’s

Directorate

Administration and Finance Research Departments

Caretaker & Security Services

Office Services

Shop

Stores

Natural Sciences

Terestrial Invertebrates

Botany

Florisbad Quaternary Research

Herpetology

Mammalogy

Ornithology

Palaeontology

Human Sciences

Anthropology

Archaeology

Collections Management - Humanities

Fine Arts

History

Rock Art

Education

Library

Information Services

Display and Technical Departments

Design & Photography

Workshop

Human Resources

SHOP



FOREWORD BY THE 
CHAIRPERSON OF COUNCIL

“One of the prerequisites for an effectively 

functioning national system of innovation (NSI) is a society 

that is aware of the value and potential dangers of science, 

is able to evaluate the products of science, uses the processes 

of science in their daily lives and engages in debate on 

science- related matters of public interest.”

White Paper on Science, Technology and Innovation, 

March 2019

Exceeded
Achieved
Partially achieved
Not achieved

42%

6%
39%

13%
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Introduction

The National Museum is actively 
engaged in conservation by 
building and curating 
representative collections of 
Natural and Human Science, 
including Fine Arts.  Our scientists 
undertake and promote 
research in several of these 
disciplines.

It is pleasing to see that the 
recently adopted White Paper 
on Science, Technology and 
Innovation promotes a science- 
literate and science- aware 
society.  The White Paper now 
makes it mandatory for scientists 
to communicate their research 
to the public.  The need to train 
scientists in science 
communication and science 
engagement skills is also 
highlighted.  It is expected that 
there would be an increase in 
the reach if science 
engagement activities are 
engaged to target the local 
government level, mainstream 
media and social media.

These policy initiatives are 
aligned closely with one of the 
key functions of the National 
Museum: the dissemination of 
information on nature, culture 
and art, through publications, 
exhibitions and a variety of 
educational programmes.  We 
have a number of initiatives that 

we are reporting on this year 
which respond to this call.  This is 
the reason that we have chosen 
the theme of this Annual Report 
to be “promoting a science- 
literate and science- aware 
society”.

With this theme in mind, I am 
pleased to report that the 
Museum has made significant 
progress in achieving its targets.  
Most of our targets were either 
exceeded or achieved.  Only 
13% of targets were not 
achieved and the Museum has 
plans in place to address these 
areas in the new financial year.

Hyperconnected Museums: 
New Approaches, new 
publics

In 2018, the theme of 
International Museum Day was 
“Hyperconnected Museums: 
New approaches, new publics”.  
Museums were encouraged to 
reach way beyond their core 
audience and find new publics 
when approaching their 
collections in a different way: it 
can be the digitalisation of their 
collections, adding multimedia 
elements to the exhibition or 
something as simple as a 
hashtag that allows visitors to 
share their experience in social 
media.

The National Museum embraces 
the concept of being a 
hyperconnected museum.  We 
have a network of connections 
at a local, national and 
international level.  Firstly, we are 
an inherent part of the local 
Bloemfontein cultural landscape.  
A total of 145 958 visitors enjoyed 
a cultural experience at the 
National Museum or one of our 
satellites during the year.

Our research programmes 
promote the documentation of 
the untold stories of communities 
that were marginalised by 
apartheid.  Our oral history 
research investigates and 
documents intangible heritage; 

Adv. Judith Leshabane
Chairperson
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a continuing strategic research 
focus is the Museum’s Batho 
Community History Project. 

During the year, the Museum 
launched its new publication 
website 
www.nationalmuseumpublica-
tions.co.za which houses the 
electronic publications of its peer 
reviewed journal Indago and 
popular scientific magazine, 
CULNA.  The content is free, 
providing increased accessibility 
to publicly funded research 
outcomes.  Together with its 
social media presence, the 
website is contributing towards 
popularising science and 
creating a knowledgeable 
society.

Collections and Research

Art Bank of South Africa 
(ArtBankSA)

Through our collections and 
research, we are connected to 
the national and international 
scientific community.  The 
Museum added 46 171 new 
specimens to our collection in 
the year.  This brings us to a total 
of 668 182 of heritage specimens 
that are under our curatorial 
care.

The information and research 
that the National Museum 
produces is held in high regard in 
academic circles and we have 
a number of NRF rated 
researchers in our team.  I am 
pleased to report that we have 
published 143 publications in 
peer reviewed journals and 38 
science articles in popular 
journals and magazines in 
2018/19.  The full details of all 
these publications appear in 
Part B.

Our scientists disseminated their 
research by presenting 31 
papers at 17 conferences.  
Further they presented 24 
academic lectures to students, 
supervised 6 postgraduate 
students and compiled 4 cultural 
or technical reports.  Museum 
staff reviewed a total of 56 
manuscripts for international and 
national scientific publications, 
research theses, scientific reports 
and researcher evaluations. 

We participated in a number of 
collaborative projects with 
researchers and research 
institutions both in South Africa 
and internationally.  Three new 
collaborative projects were 
registered in the year; two 
international (Russia and Austria), 
one national.

The National Museum is host to 
the ArtBankSA, which is a DAC 
programme arising out of The 
Mzansi Golden Economy 
strategy.  The programme aims 
to develop our emerging artists 
and provide them with a 

platform to showcase their 
artistic talent to the people of 
South Africa as well as contribute 
substantially to job creation and 
the development of the sector.

In the last 12 months the 
ArtBankSA has made significant 
strides towards achieving this 
mandate.  The Human capacity 
was enhanced with the 
appointment of a project 
manager and an assistant 
project manager.  The ArtBankSA 
has finalised their strategic plan 
and branding.  A fresh and 
exciting new logo was created, 
and they are currently 
developing a new website which 
will also host an e-shop where 
buyers can buy or lease art.  An 
Acquisition Committee has been 
set up consisting of professionals 
in the art sector who guide the 
Museum on the acquisition of 
contemporary art for the 
ArtBankSA.

Thus far the ArtBank has 
acquired 127 works of art from 
73 contemporary artist to the 
value of R2.4 million.  Two 
exhibitions were held under the 
theme Tswela Pele: New 
Acquisition of the Art Bank of 
South Africa.  The first was held 
at Oliewenhuis in February 2019 
and attracted close to 8000 
visitors.  The second exhibition, 
which was opened by our 
Director General of DAC, Vusi 
Mkhize, was held at the Durban 
Art Gallery in Kwa Zulu Natal and 
attracted about 12 000 visitors.

We are indebted to Dawie de 
Swardt and Lizel Hugo-Coetzee 
for assisting in the vacant 
position of Deputy Director.

Unfortunately, the Museum 
received a budget cut from 

Challenges faced by Council

BANK
OF SOUTH AFRICAArt



DAC, and is increasingly relying 
on grant funding to deliver its 
programmes.

The Council will focus on the 
following in the coming year:

?Navigating through budget 
cuts

?Enhancement of the 
transformation of the Museum 
through employment equity 
planning and implementation 
when vacancies arise;

?Inclusive displays and exhibits;
?Reparations and 

Maintenance of the 
infrastructure at the National 
Museum and satellites 
especially regarding safety 
concerns;

?Digitisation of the collections;
?Declining visitor numbers to 

The year ahead

the Museum;
?Ongoing activities towards 

strengthening of the 
governance of the 
organisation.

Well done to the CEO, 
Management and staff of the 
National Museum on achieving 
these performance outcomes.

Thank you to the Council of the 
National Museum for their 
commitment and support 
throughout the year.  The 
Council's dedication and 
enthusiasm for the Museum has 
been unwavering.  
Management and staff of the 
Department of Arts and Culture 
continued to give their guidance 
and support, which is 

Acknowledgements 
/Appreciation
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appreciated.  We also 
appreciate the Honourable 
Minister Mthetwa for his 
unwavering support for the 
sector and the Museum.

In conclusion, The Museum will 
continue in its pursuit to remain 
relevant and inclusive to our 
community and stakeholders, 
promoting a science– literate 
and science- aware society that 
can confront the challenges we 
face as a nation.

Conclusion

Adv. J. E. Leshabane
National Museum, Bloemfontein
31 July 2019
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“One of the fundamental skills in any museum, 
whatever its size, is scholarship. [It] … is the bedrock of our 
profession and without it we cannot hope to deliver any 

of our predetermined objectives, whether at national or local 
level…. Without a sound foundation of knowledge about our 
collections and their contexts, there can be no improvements 
in public access and education, and the information made 
available about collections will be at best trivial and at worst 

unreliable.”

Barbara Woroncow, Museums Association

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
OVERVIEW

This reporting period 2018/19 
marks the fourth year of the 
Museum’s approved Strategic 
Plan.  This document sets out our 
objectives and targets for the 
five year period culminating in 
2019/20.  At an aggregate level, 
the Museum has improved on its 
performance as evidenced by 
certain key indicators, the detail 
of which is expanded on in Part B 
of this report.

A number of departments have 
been amalgamated as a result 
of restructuring.  The Terrestrial 
Invertebrates department has 
been formed and is a 
combination of the previous 
Acarology, Arachnology and 
Entomology departments.  Each 
field will be staffed by specialist 
scientist and the respective 
collections will be maintained by 
specialised curatorial staff.  The 
new division is headed by Dr Lizel 
Hugo- Coetzee.

The Design and Workshop 
departments have been 
combined and this is headed by 
Christo Venter.  Similarly the 
Collections Management and 
Library departments have been 
combined and the new 
department is headed by Sudré 
Havenga.

Restructuring of Departments

Promoting an enhanced sense of 
national pride in our shared 
heritage

The Museum provides 
professional curation and 
conservation, research and 
education services relevant to 
our heritage-based collections, 
for the benefit to all communities 
that we serve.  We do this in 
order to promote increased 
awareness and a better 
understanding imbuing 
communities with a sense of 
national pride in the diverse 
cultural and natural heritage 
shared by all South Africans.

We are pleased to report that 
we achieved an average of 
90.08% compliance with 
required procedures for 
conservation, curation and 
management of collections in 
the reporting period.  A total of 6 
conservators attended specialist 
collections management 
training and the National 
Museum hosted a 3 day 
collections management 
workshop.

We provided multilingual (3 
languages) text in various 
formats for most of our new 
displays and internal temporary 
exhibitions hosted during the 
year).  36 Mobile Museum trips 
were undertaken in rural areas in 
the Free State, Northern and 

Eastern Cape Province.  Our 
mobile museum has been 
updated with new exciting 
displays which have proven very 
popular with the youth.

Oliewenhuis Art Museum held 16 
art exhibitions during the year.  In 
addition they offered numerous 
formal and informal activities, 
exhibitions and public outreach 
programmes.

In July 2018, Dr Jennifer Botha- 
Brink (Karoo Palaeontology) and 
her team, along with Dr Lloyd 
Rossouw (Archaeology and 
Anthropology), organized and 
co-ordinated the conference, 
which was held at the University 
of the Free State in Bloemfontein, 
South Africa.

The meeting comprised 61 oral 
presentations (including three 
from the Museum) and 12 
posters, with participants from 
seven countries.  Dr Paul Barrett, 
from The Natural History Museum 
in London UK, gave an 
invigorating presentation on new 
thoughts about dinosaur 
relationships.  Plenary speaker Dr 
Adam Huttenlocker, from the 
University of Southern California, 
Los Angeles, USA opened the 

thNational Museum hosts the 20  
Biennial Conference of the 
Palaeontological Society of 
Southern Africa
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symposium on the Palaeobiology 
of African Vertebrates with his 
latest research on therapsid 
palaeobiology, the group that 
eventually evolved into 
mammals, and Dr Celina Suarez 
from the University of Arkansas, 
Fayetteville, USA also gave a 
plenary talk on the end-Triassic 
mass extinction.  The meeting 
ran in conjunction with a 
temporary exhibit at the National 
Museum, which showcased 
many of the museum’s beautiful 
therapsid fossils, which 
document the origin and 
evolution of mammals.

Scientists from our Entomology 
thDepartment organised the 9  

International Congress of 
Dipterology (ICD9) from 25–30 
November 2018 in Windhoek 
Namibia.  In total, 310 delegates 
attended, including 61 
delegates from 13 African 
countries, the largest number of 
African delegates ever to attend 
an international Diptera 
congress.  The Entomology 
Department presented three 
papers, one poster and the 
team convened 3 symposia.

The research mandate of the 
Rock Art Department is to give a 
voice to the previously 
marginalised communities of 
southern Africa.  The department 
completed a research project 
involving the white finger-
painted rock art of the 
Makgabeng Plateau, Limpopo 

th9  International Congress of 
Dipterology

Rock Art research gives a voice 
to marginalized communities

Province.  Adding to their 
previous publications of an 
academic book and journal 
articles, this project was 
concluded with an article that 
focused on the cultural identity 
of the Northern Sotho-speaking 
group, the Hananwa.  In 1894 the 
Hananwa were engaged in a 
bloody battle with the Boer 
commandos because the 
colonial government forced 
them to pay hut taxes for 
Hananwa-owned land.  In this 
final publication our researchers 
discuss how the painted motif of 
the crocodile or koma, was used 
as a symbol recognised by 
initiated men, who fought 
tirelessly to protect their chief, 
land and families during the 
vicious onslaught of Paul Kruger’s 
government.

In this spirit of promoting 
indigenous cultural identity, the 
Rock Art department also 
contribute a highly skilled 
technical drawing of Tienfontein 
rock art site to the newly erected 
!Khwa ttu San Heritage Centre in 
the Western Cape Province.  This 
initiative is co-curated by the 
local San community and 
endeavours to circulate San 
history from their unique 
perspective. 

In 2018 the National Museum 
honoured Nelson Mandela’s 
hundredth birthday with a new 
temporary display in honour of 
the statesman’s centenary 
(1918-2018).  The well-known 
struggle icon and former 

Exhibition honours Nelson 
Mandela and Winnie Madikizela-
Mandela

president of South Africa, who 
passed away on 5 December 
2013, remains an inspiration for 
ordinary South Africans.  Each 
year Mandela Day is celebrated 
on 18 July in honour of the 
sacrifices and contributions 
Mandela made towards a 
democratic South Africa.  The 
Education Officers did an 
Outreach Project to 6 
Botshabelo schools to celebrate 
Nelson Mandela’s Centenary.  A 
PowerPoint presentation was 
done showing a timeline of his 
life and 825 learners were 
reached.

Winnie Madikizela-Mandela, 
Mandela’s former wife and 
struggle icon in her own right, 
passed away on 2 April 2018 at 
the age of 81.  Winnie inspired 
many South Africans during the 
dark days of apartheid and over 
time she became known as the 
‘mother of the nation’.  The 
Museum honoured Winnie with a 
temporary display which 
depicted her life.

Objects from the Anthropology 
and History collections were also 
made accessible for temporary 
displays, celebrating the lives of 
struggle icons Bram Fischer, 
Nelson Mandela, Winnie 
Madikizela-Mandela, and 
Albertina Sisulu.

National Days provide an 
opportunity for the National 
Museum to celebrate with our 
communities especially our 
youth. 

The Education Department 
celebrated Africa Day by 
presenting PowerPoint lessons to 
1 593 learners and educators on 
Multiculturalism in Africa and 
highlighted OR Tambo’s vision for 
African unity.  We did outreach 
presentations to mostly 
previously disadvantage schools 
(Gr 6 & 12) in the greater 
Bloemfontein/Mangaung area 
as well as to schools invited to 
the Museum.  Learners were also 

Nation Building and Social 
Cohesion
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shown real cultural artefacts and 
flags from the various African 
countries.  They also participated 
in interactive activities, such as 
traditional dances, drum playing, 
etc.

Mandela Day, celebrated 
annually on 18 July in honour of 
Nelson Mandela’s birthday and 
the sacrifices he made for the 
South African nation, has 
become a yearly opportunity for 
the National Museum to reach 
out to the less fortunate.  In 2018 
the Museum targeted two 
Mangaung shelters to be the 
beneficiaries of our Mandela 
Day Project.  Residents of the 
Ikgutseng Child and Youth 
Shelter in Phahameng received 
windbreakers, snack parcels and 
cake from Museum staff 
members who visited the facility 
on 17 July 2018.  On 18 July the 
residents of the Heidedal Child 
and Youth Centre had their turn.  
Apart from eats and treats, 
Museum staff installed a new 
ceiling for the boys’ sleeping 
quarters.

In celebration of Heritage Day 
two displays were put up at local 
libraries: a collection of 
traditional containers was on 
exhibition at Trevor Barlow library, 
and various Basotho artefacts 
were on display at Fichardtpark 
library.  Oliewenhuis Art Museum 
celebrated South Africa’s rich 
cultural and natural heritage by 
hosting a fun-filled day titled 
Pitsa di a bela.  In the morning 
our beautiful hiking trails were 
utilised for a trail run, powered by 
Standard Bank Trail Run Series.  
This was followed by a morning 
full of exciting activities to 
celebrate our rich and diverse 
natural and cultural heritage.  
These included free African 
Carousel rides, educational 
activities, and a craft and 
heritage market.  Project Mantis, 
representing the Khwe 
Community in Platfontein, shared 
aspects of their culture such as 
crafts and dancing with visitors.

First Raadsaal Museum 
celebrated Heritage Day with 
students from St. Bernard High 

School and Mabewana 
Intermediate School in 
cooperation with the South 
African Community 
Development Institute (SACDI).  
The theme of the day was 
“Raising ambassadors in love 
and respect of heritage sites”, 
and included a guided tour 
through the First Raadsaal and 
Wagon Museum and our 
scientist presented an interactive 
talk on the importance of 
museums and heritage to the 
students.

The funeral services company 
AVBOB was founded in 
Bloemfontein on 15 August 1918 
and as part of celebrating 100 
years of service, a museum 
displaying the history and legacy 
of the funeral home was set up 
at the Bloemfontein offices.  As 
part of the exhibition a hearse in 
our collection dating from the 
1920's was made available for 
display to AVBOB.  A horse-
drawn hearse and children’s 
hearse donated to the Museum 
in 1982 by AVBOB can also be 
seen as part of the permanent 
display at the Wagon Museum.

During April 2018 representatives 
of the New National Museum 
and Archives of Lesotho, paid a 
visit to the Anthropology 
Department, as part of a survey 
of all Basotho objects, and more 
specifically artefacts related to 
Lesotho, in South African 
museum collections.

Making collections accessible 
for exhibitions and research 
projects

In addition, our collections staff 
facilitated 90 loans of collections 
material throughout South Africa, 
Germany and Brazil.

Mangaung’s well-known Batho 
township turns hundred (1918-
2018).  In 1918 the then 
Municipality of Bloemfontein 
decided to demolish the old 
Waaihoek location and 
relocated all residents to a new 
township situated south of the 
Cape Town-Johannesburg 
railway track. Batho, considered 
a so-called ‘model location’, 
had been one of the National 
Museum’s focus areas during the 
past ten years mainly because of 
the Batho Community History 
Project launched there in 2008.

To celebrate Batho’s centenary, 
a special commemorative event 
was held at the Museum on 21 
September 2018.  Song and 
dance items, which focused on 
Batho’s history and culture, were 
delivered by the Museum’s choir, 
pre-schoolers from Susanna 
Ollemans Créche, learners from 
Mangaung Primary School and 
Sehunelo Secondary School, as 
well as the Tshwaraganang 
choir, which consisted of 40 
elderly Batho women.

An important highlight of the 
Batho centenary event held at 
the National Museum on 21 
September 2018 was the official 
opening of a new temporary 
exhibition on Batho.  This 
exhibition, titled “Green fingers! 
Batho’s gardens and gardeners 
(1918-2018)”, focused on the 

Batho celebrates a century
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history of Batho’s gardens and 
gardeners over a period of one 
hundred years.  One of the 
objectives of this exhibition was 
to challenge the commonly held 
misconception that Mangaung’s 
townships lack gardens and a 
gardening culture.

A significant but mostly unknown 
aspect of Batho’s tangible and 
intangible heritage is its gardens 
and gardening culture.  Batho’s 
gardening culture developed 
over the course of a century and 
one of its key features is the art 
of topiary – a garden art which 
involves the clipping of plants 
and trees into all kinds of shapes.  
Topiary has been an integral 
part of European and 
particularly British gardens for 
centuries.  When Batho was 
established in 1918 British cultural 
influence in Bloemfontein was still 
strong and such influence was 
noticeable in the style of Batho’s 
new houses and gardens.

Batho’s gardeners became 
known for their preference for 
topiary, particularly clipped 
hedges, and through the years 
Batho’s topiary developed a 
unique African flavour.  Batho’s 
topiary, called ‘township 
topiary’, became indigenised 
because it was adapted to local 
circumstances and needs.

At the beginning of 2018 the 
History Department launched a 
new oral history project, namely 
the Digaretene Project.  This 
project focuses on a small 
historical area in Bochabela 
known as Digaretene.  The area, 
which is located right next to 
Batho, consists of two streets and 
24 houses built by the 
Bloemfontein Municipality shortly 
before King George VI, his wife, 
Queen Elizabeth, and their two 
daughters, Princess Elizabeth 
(now Queen Elizabeth II) and 
Princess Margaret, visited 
Bloemfontein in March 1947.  
These houses were built to 
conceal a nearby slum area so 
that the royal family members 

New oral history project 
–‘Digaretene’

were not able to see the squalor 
during their tour of the township.  
The name ‘Digaretene’ refers to 
the houses being used to 
‘curtain-off’ the slum area.  The 
aim of the project is, among 
other things, to conduct oral 
history interviews with Digaretene 
residents in order to collect 
information on the area’s unique 
history.

In August 2018 the Karoo 
Palaeontology Department ran 
its annual Free State Evolution 
Education Programme, which 
targeted Grade 10-12 learners 
and their educators from 
previously disadvantaged 
schools.  The purpose is to 
provide them with the tools and 
resources to teach and learn 
about evolution in an 
appropriate manner.  The team 
visits schools and delivers 
education packages, and it is 
run in conjunction with the 
Palaeontological Scientific Trust 
(PAST) from Johannesburg who 
visit Bloemfontein to present a 
performance on the 
evolutionary history of life on 
Earth.  The physical theatre 
reaches the learners in a fun and 
innovative way and is sometimes 
better at communicating 
evolutionary concepts than 
traditional classroom learning.  
This year the team visited 17 
previously disadvantaged 
schools from the Bloemfontein, 
Thaba N’Chu and Botshabelo 
areas over a two week period.  
The PAST crew presented their 
theatre performance to a total 
of 1 512 learners.

The Education Department was 
invited to take part in the 
Biodiversity Career Expo held by 

rdSANBI as well as the 3  Annual 
Twellopele Branding Enterprise 
Career Exhibition in Thaba Nchu.  
They put up an exhibition with 
the content of the Mobile 
Museum and Career & Museum 
banners as background.  Andries 
Makwaai exhibited artifacts and 
different articles from the 
Museum’s departments and told 
the learners more about what 

Education and Outreach 

they can expect at the Museum, 
which career opportunities they 
could find at the National 
Museum and what subjects and 
qualifications they need.

The Herpetology Department 
initiated an outreach program of 
illustrated presentations (A 
career in the natural sciences) 
for previously disadvantaged 
high schools in the Free State.  
These presentations are given by 
researchers from the department 
and focus on what a learner 
needs to know and do in order 
to follow an academic path 
towards a career in one of the 
natural sciences, such as 
herpetology, at a museum or 
university.  The focus animal 
groups are reptiles and 
amphibians, for which interesting 
information is provided.  So far, 
presentations have been given 
at seven schools: three in 
Botshabelo, and one each in 
Dealesville, Edenburg, Thaba 
Nchu and Reddersburg. 

The Education Department, in 
collaboration with the South 
African Agency for Science and 
Technology Advancement 
(SAASTA) hosted National 
Science Week from 30 July to 3 
August 2018.  The theme for NSW 
2018 was “Deepening our 
democracy through science.”  
The focus for the week was on 
Birds-of-prey and how we can 
protect these birds by using 
scientific methods, in 
collaboration with key role- 
players.  The team also 
promoted careers in sciences at 
the National Museum.  Selected 
schools were invited to attend a 
PowerPoint presentation at the 
Museum and to participate in a 
Bird Treasure Hunt through the 
Museum.  The education officers 
also conducted outreach lessons 
to schools in the greater 
Bloemfontein/Mangaung area.  
Two libraries were selected to 
put up temporary exhibitions 
showing stuffed Birds-of-prey.  In 
total, the team reached 10 
schools, 2 036 learners, 33 
educators and a public 
audience of 1 253 during NSW.
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International Museum Day 2018

Quarternary International 
celebrates a tribute to Dr James 
Brink

The Museum conducted a 
‘behind-the-scenes’ tour where 
the public could visit the 
collections of the Arachnology, 
Herpetology and History 
departments.

An event was also hosted by the 
Department of Sport, 
Recreation, Arts and Culture – at 
the Burgersdorp Cultural 
Historical Museum.  Our Mobile 
Museum was on site and we  
exhibited interesting articles from 
different departments of our 
Museum and told people more 
about our research departments 
at the National Museum, as well 
as which educational activities 
we have to offer.

The National Museum 
celebrated the career of our 
HoD Dr James S Brink.  Through 
his career James made 
outstanding contributions to 
Florisbad Quaternary Station, 
guiding the acquisition and 
management of a world class 
contemporary and fossil 
mammal collection, driving 
training and employment 
opportunities for the 
Ikgomotseng community, and 
engineering a successful 
research department whose 
three researchers and post-
doctoral fellow have amassed 
over 200 peer-reviewed journal 
articles.  His contributions to 

science have been 
acknowledged in a special issue 
of the high-profile journal 
Quaternary International, which 
comprises 13 research articles by 
world leaders in the field.

Learners from Unity Primary 
School, Rutanang Intermediate 
School, Tsholetsang Intermediate 
School and Tsholohelo Primary 
School were invited to 
participate in Oliewenhuis Art 
Museum’s annual charity event.  
Various education ‘stations’ 
were hosted to ensure a fun 
learning experience.  These 
‘stations’ comprised informal 
guided tours, African Carousel 
rides, completing and colouring-
in African Carousel booklets and 
an interactive session with 
booklets about the Permanent 
Collection.

The Toy Library is located in 
Batho location as part of the 
Legae Day Care Centre.  The 
Toy library was started as an 
initiative by the Legae Day Care 
Centre where children can get 
access to basic education in a 
safe environment.  Oliewenhuis 
Art Museum staff members were 
responsible for planning and 
implementing renovations.  
Renovations included installing 
electricity and new flooring, 
painting, providing kids’ furniture 
and educational posters and 
numerous other features to 
ensure the comfort of the 
children making use of the Toy 
Library.

It is expected that at the end 
financial period 2018 to 2021, the 
National Museum would have in 
its employ about 120 staff 
members.  Staff salaries 
consumes about 79% of the 
budget.  This poses a budgetary 
challenge that will need 
attention if the Museum is to 
continue with its reputation of 
attracting the best research 
talent.

Giving back to the community

The National Museum in the 
Triennium

The National Museum and its 
satellite museums represent 
significant tourism assets; the 
Museum however lacks the 
capacity to effectively market 
and promote these.  The 
development of strategic 
partnerships with tourism 
authorities remains an ongoing 
priority in order to most 
appropriately tap the Museum’s 
tourism potential, particularly in 
the central interior of South 
Africa.  Digitisation of the 
Museum's collections will also be 
a focus area for the coming 
period.

The end of the financial year 
marks my one year anniversary 
at the Museum.  During this 
period I formed a better 
understanding of the 
organisation and its stakeholders.  
I am blessed with a bunch of 
great colleagues who are 
passionate, knowledgeable and 
leaders in their respective fields.

I was humbled by the 
encouragement and support 
provided to me by the late 
George Kgarume during his term 
as Chairperson.  He sadly passed 
away last year.  Advocate Judith 
Leshabane is our new 
Chairperson and she brings with 
her a passion for good 
governance which has 
benefitted the Museum 
immensely.  I am grateful to her 
for her steadfast guidance 
during the year.  I extend my 
thanks to the Council of the 
National Museum and the 
committees for their support and 
guidance.

Sharon Snell
Chief Executive Officer 
National Museum, Bloemfontein
31 July 2019
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Statement of Responsibility for Performance Information for the year ended 31 March 2019

 

 

The CEO is responsible for the preparation of the National Museum's performance information and for the 
judgements made in this information.

The Director is responsible for establishing, and implementing a system of internal control designed to provide 
reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of performance information.

In my opinion, the performance information fairly reflects the actual achievements against planned 

objectives, indictors and targets as per the strategic and annual performance plan of the National Museum 

for the financial year ended 31 March 2019.

The National Museum performance information for the year ended 31 March 2019 has been examined by 

the external auditors and their report is presented 62.

The performance information is set out on 21-37 and was approved by the Council.

Sharon Snell
Chief Executive Officer
31 July 2019
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AUDITOR’S REPORT:
PREDETERMINED OBJECTIVES

OVERVIEW OF PUBLIC ENTITY’S
PERFORMANCE

The AGSA/auditor currently performs the necessary audit procedures on the performance information to 

provide reasonable assurance in the form of an audit conclusion.  The audit conclusion on the performance 

against predetermined objectives is included in the report to management, with material findings being 

reported under the Predetermined Objectives heading in the Report on other legal and regulatory 

requirements section of the auditor’s report.

Refer to page 62 of the Report of the Auditors Report, published as Part E: Financial Information. 

Service Delivery Environment

The National Museum provides professional services in the curation and conservation of heritage-based 

collections, in research and education, of benefit to a broad spectrum of the community. Outputs and 

standards have either been maintained or improved upon by the Museum. Where targets have not been 

achieved, measures will be considered in future to address these aspects. The Museum strives to address 

transformation, in a broad sense, across the range of its processes and activities, from policy development 

and recruitment, through to its collections, research, education and community outreach programmes. 

There is an ongoing emphasis on the important role the Museum must play in contributing to the 

transformation of the heritage sector. 

There were no significant changes to the National Museum's legislative and other mandates. The pending 

White Paper on Arts, Culture and Heritage, as well as the National Museums Policy, the draft versions of which 

are still under discussion, will doubtless impact on the Museum's operations.

Strategic Outcome Oriented 
Goal 1

Celebrating the diversity of South Africa's cultural and natural heritage and 
making this accessible to all.

Goal Statement To preserve and promote an inclusive heritage through curation, conservation, 
research and exhibitions of heritage items, thereby contributing to nation 

Strategic Outcome Oriented Goals

Below are the approved Strategic Outcome Oriented Goals:

Heritage is the sum total of tangible and intangible wildlife and scenic natural parks, 
biological and geological, palaeontological formations sacred sites and sites of 

scientific and historical importance and event of historical conflict, national 
monuments, statues, historic buildings, underwater wrecks, architecture and cities  
works of art, literature and music, oral traditions, ceremonies, rituals, performances, 
museum collections and their documentation which provides the basis for a shared 

culture and creativity in the arts

WHITE PAPER ON ARTS AND CULTURE, 2017
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Strategic Outcome Oriented 
Goal 2

Goal Statement

Link to DAC focus areas

Strategic objectives flowing 
from this goal

Link to government priorities

Providing quality basic education as well as opportunities for lifelong learning.

To produce quality, informative curriculum-based educational programmes, 
outreach activities and materials, and to distribute and communicate these 
through presentation of exhibitions, lessons, guided tours, educator training 
workshops, via Mobile Museum trips and through regular media coverage.

Quality Basic Education (Outcome 1)

A professional and capacitated ACH Sector; A productive, diverse and 
inclusive ACH Sector; Nation building through effective social cohesion 
programme implementation (Skills development; Economic development; 
Improved basic education)

Programme 3 (Strategic Objectives 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6)

Link to government priorities

Link to DAC focus areas

Goal Statement

Strategic Outcome Oriented 
Goal 3

Providing (limited) heritage skills development and employment opportunities.

A professional and capacitated ACH Sector (Skills development; Economic 
development)

Strategic objectives flowing 
from this goal

Programme 2 (Strategic Objectives 2.3, 2.9)

Decent employment through inclusive economic growth; economic upliftment 
(Outcome 4)

Develop skills through workshop attendance, in-service training and mentorship 
programmes, leading to improved employment opportunities.

Link to government priorities

Link to DAC focus areas

Strategic objectives flowing 
from this goal

Programme 2 (Strategic Objectives 2.1, 2.2, 2.4, 2.5, 2.6, 2.7, 2.8); Programme 3 
(Strategic Objectives 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6) 

building, social cohesion and access to heritage information by all South 
Africans.

An efficient, effective and development-orientated public service (Outcome 
12); A diverse, socially cohesive society with a common national identity 
(Outcome 14 - Nation Building and National Identity; Social cohesion); Citizen 
participation - Access to information.

Nation building through effective social cohesion programme implementation; 
A productive, diverse and inclusive ACH Sector (Development, preservation & 
promotion of arts, culture and heritage; Nation building and Social cohesion; 
improved access to information; African Advancement and enhanced 
international cooperation.

Goal Statement

Strategic Outcome Oriented 
Goal 4

Rural job creation linked to educational outreach, skills development and 
promotion of economic livelihoods through development of heritage tourism.

Link to government priorities Vibrant, equitable and sustainable rural communities contributing towards food 
security for all; rural development (Outcome 7).

Skills development, mentoring and support for heritage site guides from local 
communities to retain heritage information in situ, to empower South Africans 
and to facilitate access to economic benefit.
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Programme /
activity /
objective

Administration: 
Support Services 
(excluding staff 
costs)

Business 
Development: 
Research and 
Information 
Management, 
Curation and 
Conservation of 
Collections 
(excluding staff 
costs)

Public Engagement: 
Marketing, Public 
Educational 
Programmes 
(excluding staff 
costs)

Budget

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

2 902 4 335 (1 433) 13 793 14 078 (285)

3 438 3 285 153 1 634 1 408 226

661 359 (302) 1 053 698 355

7 001Total 7 979 (1 582) 16 480 16 184 296

Budget
Actual

Budget
(over)
Under

Budget Budget
Expenditure

(Over)/Under
Expenditure

Link to DAC focus areas

Nation building through effective social cohesion programme implementation; 
A productive, diverse and inclusive ACH Sector (Development, preservation & 
promotion of arts, culture and heritage; Nation building and Social cohesion; 
Skills development; Economic development)

Strategic objectives flowing 
from this goal

Programme 3 (Strategic Objectives 3.4, 3.5, 3.6)

Strategy to overcome areas of under performance

Linking performance with budget

The Museum's Deputy Director is primarily responsible for monitoring and reporting on achievement against 
predetermined objectives. Having a senior manager dedicated to this aspect of the Museum's work has 
resulted in significant improvement of all processes involved. However the Museum experienced a decline in 
the overall percentage of achievement of performance objectives in the past two years. Ongoing 
improvement in project planning is necessary to address under-performance. There were no changes to the 
planned targets as approved in the 2018/2019 Annual Performance Plan.

The links between the Museum's budget and its core programmes are indicated in the table below:

A total of 98.2% of the actual budget in all programmes was spent in 2018/19; the budget has thus assisted 
the Museum in delivering important services to the diverse communities it serves.  The successful 
achievement of 52 of the Museum's total of 64 targets (81%).

2017/2018 2018/2019

Revenue collection

Details of the Museum's revenue collection budget vs actuals are reflected in the table below:

Sources of 
revenue

Transfers and 
subsidies received

Estimate

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

47 912 47 912 0 49 716 49 716 -

Actual 
Amount 

Collected

(Over)/Under
Collection

Estimate Actual
Amount

Collected

(Over)/Under
Collection

2017/2018 2018/2019
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Sale of goods and 
services and other 
income

511 489 22 511 462 (49)

Interest received 1 188 3 361 (2 173) 1 800 3 733 (1 933)

49 611Total 51 762 (2 151) 50 227 50 178 49

The Museum's revenue comprises mainly the subsidy from the Department of Arts and Culture, the sale of 
goods in the Museum's Shop, the rental from The Terrace Restaurant and professional services rendered.  The 
Museum is not a revenue generating institution due to the nature of its services and offerings.  The Museum 
collected more revenue than was budgeted for because of an increase in interest income.

Details of the capital grant balances from the previous two years are shown in the table below:

Capital investment

The National Museum received capital grant allocations from the Department of Arts and Culture (DAC) to 
be used solely for capital works projects identified for the National Museum.  The buildings are not controlled 
by the Museum (but by the Department of Public Works) and thus are not the Museum's assets.  In line with 
GRAP 17, the capital works expenses were therefore not capitalised.  During 2018/19, no funds were 
received and R81K was expended.

The National Museum provides professional services in the curation and conservation of heritage-based 
collections, in research and education, of benefit to a broad spectrum of the community.  Outputs and 
standards have either been maintained or improved upon by the Museum.  Where targets have not been 
achieved, measures will be considered in future to address these aspects.

A number of vacancies (see Human Resource Management Report elsewhere in the Annual Report) were 
filled during the year, most with applicants from designated groups.  However, vacancies in the Education 
department impacted slightly on achievement of certain targets during the year.  It remains a challenge to 
attract and retain applicants in the specialised disciplines of the Museum.  Furthermore, it remains a concern 
that core-funding constraints continue to impact on the ability of the Museum to provide staff with 
competitive salaries and incentives.

?The National Museum and its satellite museums provide professional research, conservation and 
educational services to a broad spectrum of the community, both scientific and non-scientific, at the 
local, national and international level. 

?Educational programmes and resources have been developed in line with school curricula and the 
Museum provides certain resource materials that are not available anywhere else.

?Facilities for workshops, courses, monthly meetings of societies, etc. (auditorium, tea room) are also 
available.

Tariffs are reviewed on an annual basis. The following tariffs were applicable for 2018/19:

General review of state of affairs and report on performance by the Accounting Authority to the 
Executive Authority and Parliament of the Republic of South Africa.

General review of the state of affairs

Human Resources

Services rendered by the National Museum

Tariff policy

Infrastructure
projects

Capital Grant 
received

Opening
Balance

Total

Amounts 
received 
during the 

period

Amounts 
spent 

during the 
period

Opening 
balance

Closing 
balance

Closing 
balance

Amounts 
received 
during the 

period

Amounts 
spent 

during the 
period

2017/2018 2018/2019

0 0 0 8 773 7 942 590 81 8 451

0 0 0 0 7 942 590 81 8 451

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
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Capacity constraints

Utilization of outside funds

Maintenance, repairs & renovations

Transfer payments

Public Private Partnerships (PPP)

The National Museum continues to experience capacity constraints in Information Technology (IT), with 
personnel qualified in other areas applying themselves to the best of their ability in this very necessary field.  
The ever-increasing demands of compliance and reporting have been partly addressed following the 
successful appointment of a Management Accountant.  A supply chain manager has also been appointed 
to comply with procurement regulations.  Other constraints include insufficient space for the expansion of 
displays; the rebuilding and upgrading of existing exhibition spaces and displays are the only options 
currently available.  Furthermore, the lack of sufficient, appropriate collections storage facilities remains a 
major problem requiring urgent attention; submissions for assistance in this regard continue to be made to 
the Department of Arts and Culture.

Funding for specific research projects, equipment and conferences was obtained from the National 
Research Foundation (NRF), the Palaeontological Scientific Trust (PAST) and the Department of Science and 
Technology (DST) / NRF Centre of Excellence in Palaeosciences.  Funding for an ongoing mentorship 
programme in Karoo fossil preparation was also provided by the NRF, while the Wildlife and Environment 
Society of South Africa (WESSA) funded an internship at Oliewenhuis Art Museum through the Youth 
Environmental Services (YES) programme.  Funds generated through external research contracts are utilized 
to extend research programmes, to enable research staff to attend conferences and to purchase 
specialized equipment.  The Karoo Palaeontology Department's Evolution Education Programme was again 
funded by the NRF, and SAASTA (NRF) funded the Education Department to host National Science Week.

Minor maintenance, repair and renovation activities, managed by the Department of Public Works, are 
ongoing. Security aspects, including the upgrading of security systems, were addressed on an ongoing 
basis during the report period.

No transfer payments were made by the National Museum.

No Public Private Partnerships were entered into.

Entrance fees

Rent of kitchen/tearoom R200 per day

Rental of Reservoir at Oliewenhuis R3000 per function 

Rental of Art Museum rondawels 

Rental of cottage/ guesthouse R250 per night 1 person; R400 per night 2-4 people

R 3500 per month /10% of income

Rental of rondawels R 150 per night for research visitors. Not for public use

Rent of auditorium R500 per day

Adults: R5.00; Children (school): R3.00; 
Children (pre-school): R1.00; School groups: R1.00 per learner; 
Educators: R3.00
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PERFORMANCE INFORMATION
BY PROGRAMME

The information below summarises progress made towards achieving the National Museum's strategic 
objectives. Each section is headed by the relevant strategic objective, followed by summary information 
relevant to achievement of relevant targets. 

Programme purpose: To provide the necessary professional support and compliance to ensure the 
achievement of the Museum's primary objectives of carrying out quality research, expanding and 
managing diverse heritage collections and communicating to all, through educational programmes, 
exhibitions and publications, to emphasise the importance of this diverse heritage to the South African 
nation.

Sub-programme 1.1: Support Services

Sub-programme purpose: To provide support through Human resources, information technology, security, 
risk management, supply chain management to enable the Museum to achieve its mandate Maintenance, 
repairs & renovations.

1.1. To provide the necessary support for the Museum's key focus areas – research, collections 
development and management, and education.

1.2. To develop a Human Resources, Information Technology and Risk Management Plan.
1.3. To contribute to nation building by using BBBEE level 1 and 2 service providers.

Programme performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements

PROGRAMME 1: ADMINISTRATION

Sub-programme 1: Support Services

Strategic objectives:

Programme 
Performance 

Indicator

Actual 
Achievement

2017/2018

Planned Target
2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement

2018/2019

Deviation from 
planned target to 

Actual 
Achievement for 

2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Remedial Action

1.1 
Develop a 
Human 
Resource Plan

New Target One Human 
Resource Plan 
developed

Achieved None None None

 

1.3 
Develop a 
Strategic Risk 
Management 
Plan

New Target One Strategic Risk 
Management 
Plan developed

Achieved None None None

 

1.4 
40% of goods 

New Target 40% of goods and 
services 

Partially 
achieved

30.08% of goods 
and services 

1. Spending 
on renewal of 

None

1.2 
Develop an 
Information 
Technology 
Plan

New Target One 
Technology Plan 
developed

Information Not 
achieved

Information 
technology plan 
not developed

The Museum 
received 
permission 
from National 
Treasury to use 
surplus funds 
to improve 
the IT 
infrastructure 
and this 
activity was 
not 
completed as 
at year end.

Activity is scheduled 
to be completed in 
the new financial 
year 19.20.

1.1. To provide support through Human resources, information technology, security, risk management, supply 
chain management to enable the Museum to achieve its mandate
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and services 
allocation 
budget spent 
on BBBEE Level 

allocation budget 
spent on BBBEE 
level 1 and 2 
service providers

allocation budget 
spent on BBBEE 
level 1 and 2 
service providers

sole licence 
with institution 
that are not 
BBBEE level 1 
& 2. 2. 
Spending on 
various 
science 
professional 
bodies which 
are not BBBEE 
level 1 and 2 , 
and other 
such as 
SAICA, SAIPA. 
3. Spending 
on other 
government 
organisations, 
such as 
DPW,UFS,UCT,
UNISA, AG 
etc.

Sub-programme 1.2: Compliance Services

Sub-programme purpose: To provide support to the Museum to ensure compliance with Legislation, 
guidelines and frameworks to avoid audit findings.

Programme performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements

 

Programme 
Performance 

Indicator

Actual 
Achievement

2017/2018

Planned Target
2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement

2018/2019

Deviation from 
planned target to 

Actual 
Achievement for 

2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Remedial Action

1.2.1 
Unqualified 
audit report for 
2017/2018 
financial year

Qualified audit 
report for 
2016/2017 
financial year 
(due to non-
compliance 
with 
requirements of 
GRAP 103 – 
valuation of 
Heritage assets)

Unqualified audit 
report for 
2017/2018 
financial year 

Achieved None None None

-Submit 
Procurement 
plan by 30 April 
2018

New Target Procurement plan 
submitted by 30 
April 2018

Achieved None None None

 

-Submit 4 
quarterly 
performance 
reports; not later 
than 30 days 
after the end of 
each quarter

New Target

New Target

New Target

4 quarterly 
performance 
reports submitted; 
not later than 30 
days after the 
end of each 
quarter

Achieved None None None

 

-Conduct 4 
quarterly 
council 
meetings

4 quarterly 
council meetings 
conducted

Achieved None None None

 

-100% of 
Valuation of 
heritage assets 
through non 
exchange 
transaction

100% valuation of 
heritage assets 
received through 
non exchange 
transaction

Achieved None None None

-Submit Annual 
financial 
statements to 
AG by 30 May 
2018

New Target Annual financial 
statements 
submitted to AG 
by 30 May 2018

Achieved None None None

1.1. To provide support to the Museum to ensure compliance with Legislation, guidelines and frameworks to avoid 
audit findings
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PROGRAMME 2: BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Sub-programme 1: Curation and Conservation of Collections

Strategic objectives:

Sub-Programme purpose: To collect and conserve materials and objects of natural and cultural heritage 
relevant to the disciplines of the National Museum, which represent an important part of the collective 
national estate.  In addition, to give attention to expanding collections where appropriate to include 
materials, objects and information to promote an enhanced sense of national pride in the diverse cultural 
and natural heritage shared by all South Africans.

2.1. To systematically build representative collections of natural history, cultural history and art.
2.2. To maintain high standards of conservation, curation and management of collections.
2.3. To build collections management capacity internally and in the broader museum sector.

Programme performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements

Programme 
Performance 

Indicator

Actual 
Achievement

2017/2018

Planned Target
2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement

2018/2019

Deviation from 
planned target to 

Actual 
Achievement for 

2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Remedial Action

2.1.1 
Objects / 
specimens 
("material units") 
added to 
natural history, 
cultural history 
and art 
collections

8 693 specimens 
("material units") 
added to 
natural history 
collections by 
31 March 2018.

Objects / 
specimens 
(“material units”) 
added to natural 
history (n=12000) 
by 31 March 2019.

Achieved

44 475 
specimens 
(“material 
units”) 
added to 
natural 
history 
collections 
by 31 March 
2019.

32 475 specimens 
more than target 
added

Successful 
fieldtrips 
added more 
specimens

None

R141 200 spent 
on art 
collections by 
31 March 2018.

R150 000 spent on 
art collections by 
31 March 2019.

Not 
achieved

R0 spent on 
art collection 
by 31 March 
2019.  Two 
artworks 
donated to 
the value of 
R31 500.

The Museum 
purchased 118 
artworks through 
the National Art 
Bank grant funding. 
See details below.
Oliewenhuis 
Advisory 
Committee 
approved artwork 
for purchase, 
however the sale 
could not be 
finalised as the 
gallery has an 
outstanding CSD 
registration.

The 
Oliewenhuis 
sale will be 
finalised in 
19.20

No 
recommendations to 
the advisor 
committee unless 
the CSD registration 
is in place to avoid 
delays in future.

1 730 objects 
("material units") 
added to 
cultural history 
by 31 March 
2018.

Objects / 
specimens 
("material units") 
added to cultural 
history (n=1200) 
(& 
cultural/humaniti
es) collections by 
31 March 2019.

Achieved

1 694 objects 
("material 
units") added 
to cultural 
history (& 
cultural/hum
anities) 
collections 
by 31 March 
2019. 

494 objects more 
than target added.

Successful 
fieldtrips and 
or donations 
received 
added more 
specimens.

None

2.1. To systematically build representative collections of natural history, cultural history and art

No of artworks 
purchased for 
National Art 
Bank (NAB) 
collections by 
31 March 2018.

No target for 
18.19

118 artworks 
purchased 
for National 
Art Bank 
(NAB) 
collections 
by 31 March 
2019.

The National 
Museum 
accelerated 
activity on this 
project and 
managed to 
finalise these 
purchases.

None None
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2.1.2. 
Collections 
Policy reviewed

Collections Policy 
reviewed 
annually, by 31 
March.

Collections 
Policy reviewed 
by 31 March 
2018.

Achieved.

Collections 
Policy 
reviewed on 
21 June 2018.

None None None

Annual 
collections 
audit 
successfully 
completed by 
31 March 2018. 

 

2.1.3. 
Annual 
collections 
audit 
completed

Complete annual 
collections audit 
by 31 March 2019.

Achieved.

Annual 
collections 
audit 
successfully 
completed 
by 31 March 
2019.

None None

Programme 
Performance 

Indicator

Actual 
Achievement

2017/2018

Planned Target
2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement

2018/2019

Deviation from 
planned target to 

Actual 
Achievement for 

2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Remedial Action

2.2.1. 
Annual review 
of procedures 
for 
conservation, 
curation and 
management 
of collections

2.2.2. 
Compliance 
with procedures 
for 
conservation, 
curation and 
management 
of collections 
during annual 
collections 
audit.

Procedures for 
conservation, 
curation and 
management 
of collections 
reviewed by 31 
March 2018 (as 
part of annual 
collections 
audit).

Procedures 
reviewed 
annually by 31 
March 2019.

Achieved.

Procedures 
for conserva-
tion, curation 
and 
manage-
ment of 
collections 
reviewed by 
31 March 
2019.

None None None

An average of 
88.6% 
compliance 
with required 
procedures for 
conservation, 
curation and 
management 
of collections 
was achieved.

90% compliance 
with procedures 
for conservation, 
curation and 
management of 
collections. 

Achieved.

An average 
of 90.08% 
compliance 
with required 
procedures 
for conserva-
tion, curation 
and 
manage-
ment of 
collections 
was 
achieved. 

Yes Small 
percentage 
over 
achievement.

None

2.2. To maintain high standards of conservation, curation and management of collections

Programme 
Performance 

Indicator

Actual 
Achievement

2017/2018

Planned Target
2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement

2018/2019

Deviation from 
planned target to 

Actual 
Achievement for 

2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Remedial Action

2.3. To build collections management capacity internally and in the broader museum sector 

Updated User 
Asset 
Management 
Plan (UAMP) 
including 
motivation for 
additional 
storage 
facilities, was 
submitted to 
DAC by 30 
June.

2.2.3. 
Motivation for 
additional 
storage facilities 
submitted to 
Department of 
Arts and Culture 
(DAC) annually

Motivation for 
additional 
storage facilities 
submitted to DAC 
annually by 30 
June.

Not 
applicable.

A budget 
from DAC 
infrastructure 
was 
allocated for 
additional 
storage on 23 
March 2018.

None None None

A total of 5 
conservation / 
collections 
management 
training 
opportunities 
were attended 
by 31 March 

6 conservation / 
collections 
management 
training 
opportunities per 
year.

Achieved.

A total of 6 
conservators 
/ collections 
managers 
attended 
specialist 

None2.3.1. 
Training 
attended by 
Museum 
conservators / 
collections 
managers.
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2018. collections 
training 
opportunities 
by 31 March 
2019. 

None

 

2.3.2. 
Collections 
management 
training material 
produced and 
presented.

One 3-day 
collections 
management 
training course 
prepared and 
presented by 31 
March 2019.

One 3-day 
collections 
management 
training course 
was prepared 
and presented 
by Museum 
staff by 31 
March 2018. 

Achieved.

One 3-day 
collections 
managemen
t training 
course was 
prepared 
and 
presented 
from 18-20 
March 2019.

None

No interns 
received 
training to 31 
March 2018.

 

2.3.3. 
Interns and 
heritage 
practitioners 
trained through 
collections 
management 
courses offered 
by Museum 
staff.

One full-time 
internship and 
four 2-month 
internships hosted 
by 31 March 2019. 

Not 
achieved.

One full-time 
intern 
(WESSA) was 
hosted and 
received 
training to 31 
March 2019.

Four 2-month 
internships not 
hosted.

No interns 
could be 
attracted for 
training in 
collections.

Agreements to be 
put in place with FET 
college, CUT for 
internships.  Ensure 
proper 
documentation of 
internships.

2.4. Sub-Programme 2: Research and Information Management

Strategic objectives:

Programme purpose: To undertake research to produce high quality results relating to the various research 
disciplines of the National Museum and to communicate the relevance and meaning of these results, 
including contributing data to the debate on climate change, to as broad an audience as possible.  
Research programmes will incorporate aspects relevant to promoting a greater awareness of the 
importance and role of previously marginalized communities in contributing to South Africa as a nation.

2.4.1. To undertake research of an internationally accepted standard relevant to the various 
disciplines of the National Museum, in keeping with its mission and functions.

2.4.2. To produce and communicate high quality research results.
2.4.3. To produce scientific and popular in-house publications to disseminate knowledge.
2.4.4. To foster internal, national and international research co-operation.
2.4.5. To provide relevant research expertise.
2.4.6. To build research capacity.

Programme performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements

2.4. Sub-Programme 2: Research and Information Management

Strategic objectives:

Programme purpose: To undertake research to produce high quality results relating to the various research 
disciplines of the National Museum and to communicate the relevance and meaning of these results, 
including contributing data to the debate on climate change, to as broad an audience as possible.  
Research programmes will incorporate aspects relevant to promoting a greater awareness of the 
importance and role of previously marginalized communities in contributing to South Africa as a nation.

2.4.1. To undertake research of an internationally accepted standard relevant to the various 
disciplines of the National Museum, in keeping with its mission and functions.

2.4.2. To produce and communicate high quality research results.
2.4.3. To produce scientific and popular in-house publications to disseminate knowledge.
2.4.4. To foster internal, national and international research co-operation.
2.4.5. To provide relevant research expertise.
2.4.6. To build research capacity.

Programme performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements

Programme 
Performance 

Indicator

Actual 
Achievement

2017/2018

Planned Target
2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement

2018/2019

Deviation from 
planned target to 

Actual 
Achievement for 

2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Remedial Action

2.4.1 
Annual review 
of progress on 
research 
projects 
undertaken.

Progress on 92% 
of total number 
of research 
projects by 31 
March 2018.

Progress on 60% 
of total number of 
research projects 
by 31 March 2019.

Achieved.

Progress on 
86% of total 
number of 
research 
projects.

26% more progress 
than set target.

Research staff 
were able to 
show progress 
for a greater 
percentage 
of research 
projects than 
anticipated. 
This is partly 
due to factors 
beyond the 
control of 
researchers, 
such as work 
undertaken 
by research 
collaborators.

None

2.4. To undertake research of an internationally accepted standard relevant to the various disciplines of the 
National Museum, in keeping with its mission and functions



 

Ethical 
clearance 
confirmed for 3 
new registered 
research 
projects.

2.4.3. 

Ethical 
clearance for 
all new 
registered 
projects.

Ethical clearance 
for all new 
registered 
research projects 
confirmed 
annually, by 31 
March 2019.

Achieved. 

Ethical 
clearance 
confirmed for 
all new 
registered 
research 
projects.

None None None

2.4.2. 
Achievement of 
NRF rating by 
museum 
scientists.

5 NRF rated 
scientists as at 
31 March 2018.

Maintain 5 NRF 
rated museum 
scientists at 31 
March 2019.

Not 
achieved.

3 NRF rated 
scientists as 
at 
31 March 
2019.

2 NRF rated 
scientists less than 
target.

The Museum 
commenced 
the year with 
5 NRF rated 
scientist 
however 2 
NRF rated 
scientists 
resigned in 
January 2019.

Scientists will be 
motivated to apply 
for NRF rating.
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Programme 
Performance 

Indicator

Actual 
Achievement

2017/2018

Planned Target
2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement

2018/2019

Deviation from 
planned target to 

Actual 
Achievement for 

2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Remedial Action

2.5.1. 
Research 
articles 
published in 
scientific 
journals.

2.5.2. 
Articles 
published in 
popular media.

70 research 
articles 
published in 
peer-reviewed 
journals to 31 
March 2018.

30 publications in 
peer-reviewed 
journals per 
annum.

Achieved.

143 
publications 
in peer-
reviewed 
journals to 31 
March 2019.

113 more 
publications than 
set target.

One scientist 
contributed 
105 online 
publications 
on the IUCN 
Red Data List 
of Threatened 
Species, 
which was not 
planned for.

None

24 popular 
articles 
published to 31 
March 2018.

30 popular 
articles published 
per annum.

Achieved.

38 popular 
articles 
published to 
31 March 
2019.

8 popular articles 
more than set 
target

The Museum 
developed a 
publications 
website where 
popular 
articles can 
be published 
online.

None

2.5. To produce and communicate high quality research results

Programme 
Performance 

Indicator

Actual 
Achievement

2017/2018

Planned Target
2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement

2018/2019

Deviation from 
planned target to 

Actual 
Achievement for 

2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Remedial Action

2.6.1. 
Culna 
produced.

Culna 72 (2017) 
published in 
November 
2017.

Keep to agreed 
production 
deadlines for 
Culna (1 issue per 
year).

Achieved.
 
Culna 73 
published (1 
issue).

None None None

Indago 
(formerly 
Navorsinge van 
die Nasionale 

4 issues of 
Indago were 
published 
during the year 

Keep to agreed 
production 
deadlines for 
Indago (1 issue 

Achieved.

Indago Vol 
34 Numbers 1 

1 issue more than 
target.

More 
manuscripts 
were 
submitted, 

None

2.6. To produce scientific and popular in-house publications to disseminate knowledge

29 popular 
lectures 
presented to 31 
March 2018.

2.5.3. 
Popular lectures 
presented.

30 popular 
lectures 
presented per 
annum.

Not 
achieved.

14 popular 
lectures 
presented to 
31 March 
2019.

16 popular lectures 
less than set target.

It is difficult to 
determine the 
number of 
available 
opportunities 
for presen-
tation of 
popular 
lectures by 
speakers. This 
depends 
entirely on 
requests 
received to 
present 
lectures.

Performance 
agreements for 
researchers were 
amended, so that 
they will actively 
market and inform 
institutions of the 
service offered by 
the museum to 
present lectures in 
2019/2020.
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Museum) 
produced.

ending 31 
March 2018.

per year). and 2 were 
published 
during the 
year.(2 issues)

resulting in an 
additional 
issue.

Programme 
Performance 

Indicator

Actual 
Achievement

2017/2018

Planned Target
2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement

2018/2019

Deviation from 
planned target to 

Actual 
Achievement for 

2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Remedial Action

2.7.1. 
Annual review 
of progress on 
collaborative 
projects 
undertaken.

Progress on 61% 
of collaborative 
research 
projects 31 
March 2018.

Progress on 60% 
of collaborative 
projects by 31 
March 2019.

Achieved.

Progress on 
88% (60 of 68) 
of collabora-
tive projects 
by 31 March 
2019.

28% more progress 
than set target.

Research staff 
were able to 
show progress 
on a higher 
percentage 
of collabora-
tive research 
projects than 
anticipated.

None

2.7.2. 
New 
collaborative 
projects 
established.

A total of 2 new 
collaborative 
research 
projects were 
established by 
31 March 2018.

4 new 
collaborative 
research projects 
established by 31 
March 2019.

Partially 
achieved.

A total of 3 
new 
collaborative 
research 
projects were 
established 
by 31 March 
2019.

One project less 
than target 
established at the 
National Museum.

New projects 
were 
established 
with collabo-
rators, but the 
projects were 
not registered 
at the 
museum, but 
at the colla-
borator's 
institution.

All new projects to 
be registered at the 
Museum.

2.7.3. 
Conference / 
workshop 
presentations 
given.

22 conference / 
workshop 
presentations 
were given by 
31 March 2018.

30 conference / 
workshop 
presentations per 
annum.

Achieved.

31 confe-
rence / 
workshop 
presentations 
were made 
by 31 March 
2019.

One conference 
presentation more 
than target.

None None

2.7.4. 
Lectures / 
practicals 
presented to 
students.

8 academic 
lectures / 
practicals were 
presented to 
students by 31 
March 2018.

20 lectures / 
practicals 
presented to 
students per 
annum.

Achieved.

24 academic 
lectures / 
practicals 
were 
presented to 
31 March 
2019.

4 more academic 
lectures / practicals 
were presented 
than target.

None None

2.7.5. 
Loans of 
collection 
material.

A total of 68 
new incoming 
or outgoing 
loans of 
collection 
material were 
processed 
during the year 
ending 31 
March 2018.

30 new incoming 
and outgoing 
loans of 
collection 
material annually.

Achieved.

There were a 
total of 90 
new 
incoming or 
outgoing 
loans of 
collection 
material for 
the period.

60 more loans were 
processed than set 
target.

More requests 
were received 
for loans than 
anticipated.

None

2.7. To foster internal, national and international research co-operation

Programme 
Performance 

Indicator

Actual 
Achievement

2017/2018

Planned Target
2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement

2018/2019

Deviation from 
planned target to 

Actual 
Achievement for 

2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Remedial Action

2.8. To provide relevant research expertise

2.8.1 
CRM, EIA, 
biomonitoring 
and Site 
Reports.

14 CRM, EIA, 
biomonitoring 
and Site Reports 
produced as at 
31 March 2018.

Compile 20 
cultural technical 
reports, or 
environmental 
assessment 
reports by 31 
March 2019.

Not 
achieved. 

Compiled 4 
cultural 
technical 
reports, or 
environment

16 reports less than 
set target were 
produced.

Requests for 
these reports 
are controlled 
by external 
factors.  When 
requests are 
received, 
researchers 

Targets in the APP for 
2018/2019 have 
been reviewed; 
annual target is set 
based on planned 
requests.
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al assessment 
reports by 31 
March 2019.

own research 
still receives 
priority.

2.8.2. 
Reviews of 
research 
articles, 
proposals, 
reports and 
management 
plans.

95 reviews of 
research 
articles, reports, 
proposals, 
theses and 
management 
plans were 
undertaken by 
31 March 2018.

50 reviews of 
research articles/ 
reports/ 
proposals/ 
management 
plans by 31 
March 2019.

Achieved.

56 reviews of 
research 
articles/ 
reports/ 
proposals/ 
manage-
ment plans 
were 
undertaken 
by 31 March 
2019.

Six reviews more 
than set target. 

None None

2.8.3. 
Professional 
staff serving on 
committees of 
professional 
bodies.

10 professional 
staff serving on 
committees of 
professional 
bodies to 31 
March 2018.

8 professional 
staff serving on 
committees of 
professional 
bodies to March 
2019. 

Achieved.
8 professional 
staff serving 
on commit-
tees of 
professional 
bodies to 31 
March 2019.

None None None

Programme 
Performance 

Indicator

Actual 
Achievement

2017/2018

Planned Target
2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement

2018/2019

Deviation from 
planned target to 

Actual 
Achievement for 

2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Remedial Action

2.9. To build research capacity

2.9.1 
Training of 
interns.

1 fulltime intern 
received 
training at 
Oliewenhuis 
during the year 
ending 31 
March 2018.

2 interns to 
undergo training 
in research 
departments to 
31 March 2019.

Achieved.

7 interns 
underwent 
training in 
research 
departments 
to 31 March 
2019.

5 interns more than 
target.

Museum staff 
presented 
more training 
than 
anticipated.

None

2.9.2. 
Attendance of 
conferences 
and research 
meetings by 
professional 
staff.

32 opportunities 
to attend 
research 
conferences & 
workshops by 
research staff to 
31 March 2018.

32 conferences / 
research 
meetings 
attended by 
professional staff 
to 31 March 2019.

Achieved.

32 conferen-
ces/ research 
meetings 
attended to 
31 March 
2019.

None None None

2.9.3. 
Supervision of 
post-graduate 
students.

Supervision was 
provided for 4 
post-graduate 
students to 31 
March 2018.

4 post-graduate 
students 
supervised 
annually.

Achieved.

Supervision 
was provided 
for 6 post-
graduate 
students to 
31 March 
2019.

Two students 
supervised more 
than set target.

Additional 
opportunities 
for supervision 
of post-
graduate 
students 
presented 
themselves.

None

PROGRAMME 3: PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT

Sub-Programme 1: Marketing

Strategic objectives:

Sub-Programme purpose: To promote a greater awareness and better understanding of South Africa's 
diverse cultural and natural heritage through relevant formal and informal activities and exhibitions.

3.1. To promote quality, informative educational programmes, materials, activities and 
objectives.

3.2. To provide an enhanced visitor experience.
3.3. To develop permanent and temporary exhibitions to showcase the Museum's diverse 
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natural and cultural heritage and art collections.

Programme performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements

Programme 
Performance 

Indicator

Actual 
Achievement

2017/2018

Planned Target
2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement

2018/2019

Deviation from 
planned target to 

Actual 
Achievement for 

2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Remedial Action

3.2 To provide an enhanced visitor experience
3.3 To develop permanent and temporary exhibitions to showcase the Museum's diverse natural and cultural 

heritage and art collections

3.1.1. 
Regular media 
coverage 
obtained.

Total of 3119 
publicity items 
in media to 31 
March 2018.

Produce a total 
of 700 media 
items per year.

Achieved.

A total of 
2648 media 
items were 
produced 31 
March 2019.

1 948 more media 
items than target.

There was 
considerable 
exposure of 
Museum 
activities in 
social media.

None

3.2.1. 
Visitor numbers 
increased.

Total of 180 460 
visitors to the 
National 
Museum and its 
satellites from 1 
April 2017 to 31 
March 2018.

219 000 visitors to 
the National 
Museum and its 
satellites during 
2018/2019.

Not 
achieved

Total of 145 
958 visitors to 
the National 
Museum, its 
satellites and 
outreach 
programmes 
from 1 April 
2018 to 31 
March 2019.

73 042 fewer visitors 
than target.

It is very 
difficult to 
predict the 
number of 
people visiting 
the Museum in 
a given year.

The Museum is 
actively marketing 
on social media and 
other forums.

Programme 
Performance 

Indicator

Actual 
Achievement

2017/2018

Planned Target
2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement

2018/2019

Deviation from 
planned target to 

Actual 
Achievement for 

2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Remedial Action

3.1. To promote quality, informative educational programmes, materials, activities and objectives.

3.2.2. 
Marketing 
products 
produced.

Marketing 
products 
produced for all 
new exhibitions 
(23), 372 
materials 
produced to 31 
March 2018.

Marketing 
products 
produced for all 
new exhibitions.

Achieved.
Marketing 
products 
produced for 
all new 
exhibitions 
(24), 592 
materials 
produced to 
31 March 
2019.

None None None

3.3.1. 
Annual review 
of rolling 10-
year permanent 
exhibition plan.

Rolling 10-year 
permanent 
exhibition plan 
was reviewed 
by 31 March 
2018.

Rolling 10-year 
permanent 
exhibition plan 
reviewed 
annually by 31 
March.

Achieved. 

Exhibition 
plan tabled 
at sub-
committee of 
council 
meeting 7 
February and 
noted.

None None None

3.3.2. 
Temporary 
exhibitions 
(internal) 
developed and 
hosted.

11 internal 
temporary 
exhibitions were 
hosted during 
the year to 31 
March 2018.

4 temporary 
exhibitions 
developed and 
hosted per year 
(internal).

Achieved.

8 new 
internal 
temporary 
exhibitions 
were hosted 
during the 
year to 31 
March 2019.

4 new temporary 
exhibitions than 
target.

Additional 
exhibitions 
were 
mounted for 
special days.

None

3.3.3. 
Temporary 
exhibitions 
(external) 
developed and 

5 external 
temporary 
exhibitions were 
hosted during 
the year to 31 

2 temporary 
exhibitions 
developed and 
installed per year 
(external).

Achieved.

6 external 
temporary 
exhibitions 

4 more external 
temporary 
exhibitions were 
hosted than target. 

Opportunities 
arose for the 
National 
Museum to 
host 4 

None
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hosted. March 2018. were hosted 
during the 
year to 31 
March 2019.

additional 
external 
temporary 
exhibitions, 
e.g. Batho 
travelling 
exhibition.

3.3.4. 
Temporary art 
exhibitions 
hosted at 
Oliewenhuis Art 
Museum.

A total of 15 
temporary art 
exhibitions were 
hosted to 31 
March 2018 at 
Oliewenhuis Art 
Museum.

10 temporary art 
exhibitions hosted 
per year 
(Oliewenhuis Art 
Museum).

Achieved.

A total of 16 
temporary 
art exhibitions 
were hosted 
to 31 March 
2019 at 
Oliewenhuis 
Art Museum.

6 more temporary 
art exhibitions than 
target were hosted. 

Additional 
opportunities 
and optimal 
utilization of all 
available 
exhibition 
venues 
enabled 
Oliewenhuis 
Art Museum to 
host more 
temporary art 
exhibitions 
than 
anticipated 
during the 
year.

None

3.3.5. 
National Art 
Bank temporary 
exhibitions 
hosted.

1 National Art 
Bank temporary 
exhibition 
hosted during 
the year.

1 National Art 
Bank temporary 
exhibition hosted 
per year.

Achieved. 

2 National Art 
Bank 
temporary 
exhibitions 
hosted 
during the 
year.

One more 
exhibition than 
target.

NoneNone

3.3.6. 
Text for displays 
produced in 3 
languages 
(English, 
Afrikaans, 
Sesotho).

Multilingual (3 
languages) text 
in various 
formats was 
produced in all 
new displays 
hosted during 
the year.

Multilingual (3 
languages) text in 
various formats 
provided in all 
new temporary 
exhibitions 
(internal).

Not 
achieved.

Multilingual text 
was only provided 
in 2 languages for 
all new displays.

The National 
Museum did 
not have the 

rd3  language 
translator in 
house and will 
outsource this 
function in the 
future.

The Museum will 
outsource the 
translation function.

Sub-Programme 2: Public Educational Programmes

Strategic objectives:

Sub-Programme purpose: To provide informative and enjoyable educational experiences through relevant 
formal and informal activities and public outreach programmes, thereby contributing to promoting a 
greater awareness and better understanding of South Africa's diverse cultural and natural heritage.

3.4. To produce quality, informative educational programmes, materials and activities, and to 
communicate these.

3.5. To address social responsibility and transformation through targeted educational and 
outreach activities.

3.6. To use oral history techniques to enlighten Museum audiences regarding previously 
marginalized Bloemfontein / Mangaung communities.

Programme performance indicators, planned targets and actual achievements

Programme 
Performance 

Indicator

Actual 
Achievement

2017/2018

Planned Target
2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement

2018/2019

Deviation from 
planned target to 

Actual 
Achievement for 

2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Remedial Action

3.4.
these.

To produce quality, informative educational programmes, materials and activities, and to communicate 

3.4.1 
Educational 
materials 
reviewed and 
updated.

Current 
educational 
materials were 
reviewed, with 
39% of these 
updated by 31 
March 2018.

Current 
educational 
materials 
reviewed, with 
50% of these 
updated by 
March 2019.

Achieved.

Current 
educational 
materials 
were 

None None None
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reviewed, 
with 50% of 
these 
updated by 
31 March 
2019.

3.4.2. 
Educational 
materials 
distributed.

3668 
educational 
booklets 
distributed to 31 
March 2018.

700 educational 
booklets 
distributed each 
year.

Achieved.

3721 
educational 
booklets 
distributed to 
31 March 
2019.

3 021 more 
educational 
booklets distributed 
than target.

Due to many 
new 
exhibitions at 
Oliewenhuis, 
more booklets 
were 
distributed 
than 
anticipated.

None

3.4.3. 
Numbers of 
lessons & 
guided tours 
presented.

481 educational 
lessons & 
guided tours 
presented to 31 
March 2018.

520 lessons & 
guided tours 
presented per 
annum.

Achieved.

520 
educational 
lessons & 
guided tours 
presented to 
31 March 
2019.

None None None

3.4.4. 
Educator 
training 
workshops 
presented.

0 educator 
training 
workshops 
presented to 31 
March 2018.

5 educator 
training 
workshops 
presented per 
annum.

Achieved. 

5 educator 
training 
workshops 
presented to 
31 March 
2019.

None None None

3.4.5. 
Participation in 
public outreach 
programmes.

Participation in 
2 public 
education 
projects to 31 
March 2018. 
(SAASTA & 
PAST).

Participation in 2 
public 
educational 
projects (e.g. 
funded by 
SAASTA) by 
March 2019.

Achieved.

Participated 
in 3 public 
education 
projects with 
SAASTA and 
PAST to 31 
March 2019.

One more project 
than anticipated.

Participation 
in a career 
expo was not 
anticipated.

None

3.4.6. 
Mobile Museum 
trips 
undertaken.

25 Mobile 
Museum trips 
undertaken to 
31 March 2018, 
including 9 to 
rural areas.

20 Mobile 
Museum trips 
undertaken (at 
least 8 to rural 
areas) by March 
2019.

Achieved.

36 Mobile 
Museum trips 
undertaken 
to 31 March 
2019, 
including 23 
to rural areas. 

16 more trips than 
target.

The Museum 
was able to 
undertake 
extra Mobile 
Museum trips, 
especially to 
include rural 
areas.

Programme 
Performance 

Indicator

Actual 
Achievement

2017/2018

Planned Target
2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement

2018/2019

Deviation from 
planned target to 

Actual 
Achievement for 

2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Remedial Action

3.5. To address social responsibility and transformation through targeted educational and outreach activities

3.5.1.
Youth 
development, 
temporary 
employment 
and training 
provided.

Training and 
temporary 
employment 
provided for 5 
tourism 
students, acting 
as Assistant 
Museum Guides 
to March 2018.

Training and 
temporary 
employment 
provided for 4 
tourism students, 
acting as 
Assistant Museum 
Guides to March 
2019. 

Achieved. 

Training and 
temporary 
employment 
provided for 
9 tourism 
students, 
acting as 
Assistant 
Museum 
Guides to 
March 2019.

5 more students 
trained and 
employed than 
target. 

It was possible 
to provide 
training and 
temporary 
employment 
for more 
students than 
anticipated, 
due to 
additional 
opportunities.

None

3.5.2. 
Holiday art 
workshops 
hosted.

10 holiday 
workshops 
presented 
during the year 
ending 
31 March 2018.

10 holiday art 
workshops held 
per annum, each 
accommodating 
10 participants. 

Achieved.

10 holiday art 
workshops 
presented, 
accommoda

None None None
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ting 93 
participants 
by 31 March 
2019.

3.5.3. 
Annual charity 
event hosted at 
Oliewenhuis Art 
Museum.

1 charity event, 
involving 25 
children hosted 
in March 2018. 

Annual charity 
event hosted, 
involving 25 
children.

Achieved.

Charity event 
for 50 
children 
hosted at 
Oliewenhuis 
by 31 March 
2019.

None None None

3.5.4. 
Previously 
disadvantaged 
schools visited 
by Museum 
Education 
Department.

63 previously 
disadvantaged 
schools visited 
by Education 
Department 
staff by 31 
March 2018.

25 previously 
disadvantaged 
schools visited by 
Education 
Department staff 
by 31 March 2019. 

Achieved.

42 previously 
disadvantag
ed schools 
visited by 
Education 
Department 
staff by 31 
March 2019.

17 more previously 
disadvantaged 
schools visited than 
target.

None None

3.5.5. 
Living heritage 
events hosted.

2 living heritage 
events hosted 
to 31 March 
2018.

2 living heritage 
events hosted to 
31 March 2019. 

Achieved.

2 living 
heritage 
events 
hosted to 31 
March 2019.

None None None

3.5.6. 
Improved 
access to 
exhibitions 
provided for 
physically 
challenged 
visitors.

Improved 
access to 2 
exhibitions was 
provided for 
physically 
challenged 
visitors by 31 
March 2018.

Improved access 
to 2 new 
exhibitions 
provided for 
physically 
challenged 
visitors by 31 
March 2019. 

Not 
Achieved.

No improved 
access to 
exhibitions was 
provided for 
physically 
challenged visitors 
by 31 March 2019. 

A project plan 
was in place 
to print 3D 
Museum 
specimens 
and 
unfortunately 
due to 
supplier 
delays, the 
University only 
provided the 
specimens 
after the 
financial year 
closed. 

None

Programme 
Performance 

Indicator

Actual 
Achievement

2017/2018

Planned Target
2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement

2018/2019

Deviation from 
planned target to 

Actual 
Achievement for 

2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Remedial Action

3.6. To use oral history techniques to enlighten Museum audiences regarding previously marginalized 
Bloemfontein / Mangaung communities

3.6.1. 
Batho residents 
interviewed.

18 Batho 
residents 
interviewed to 
31 March 2018.

10 Batho residents 
interviewed by 31 
March 2019.

Partially 
achieved.

8 Batho 
residents 
interviewed 
to 31 March 
2019.

2 less residents 
interviewed than 
target. 

Appointments 
with 
interviewees 
were 
canceled due 
to unforeseen 
circumstances
.

None

3.6.2. 
Publications on 
Batho 
produced.

th5  publication 
on Batho 
produced. 
Article titled 
"What's in a 
name? Why 
Batho was 
almost named 
Mendi" was 
published in 
Culna 72:10-11. 

6  publication on 
Batho produced 
by 31 March 2019.

th Achieved.

th6  publica-
tion on Batho 
produced. 
Article titled: 
Batho 
celebrates a 
century 
(1918-2018). 
Culna 73: 2-4.

None None None
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Botha-Brink, J., Bento Soares, M. & Guillermo Martinelli, A.. 2018. Non-mammaliaform 

cynodont osteohistology and implications for the evolution of mammalian 
thgrowth patterns. 20  Biennial Conference of the Palaeontological Society of 

Southern Africa, Bloemfontein, South Africa, July 2018. (Oral presentation).

Butler, E., Abdala, F. & Botha-Brink, J. Postcranial morphology of the Early Triassic 
thepicynodont Galesaurus planiceps from the Karoo Basin, South Africa. 20  

Biennial Conference of the Palaeontological Society of Southern Africa, 

Bloemfontein, South Africa, July, 2018. (Oral presentation).

Choiniere, J., McPhee, B.W., Botha-Brink, J., Bordy, E.M. & Benson, R.B.J. A novel method 
ndinfers tetrapod limb posture using proportional limb robusticity. 2  Joint Congress 

on Evolutionary Biology, Montpellier, France, August 2018. (Poster presentation). 

Coetzee, G. Mobility and sedentism: Exploring the material culture of trekboers and 

pioneer farmers. Congress of the South African Society of Cultural History, Pilgrim’s 

Rest, May 2018. (Poster presentation)

Coetzee, G. On the trail of the trek-farmers. Congress of the South African Society of 

Cultural History, Pilgrim’s Rest, May 2018. (Poster presentation).

Dufour, C.M.S., Ganem, G., Pillay, N. & Avenant, N.L. Habitat characteristics and species 

interference influence space use and nest-site occupancy: implications for social 

variation in two rodent sister species. Joint Conference of the Rodens et Spatium 

(R&S) and International Conference of Rodent Biology and Management 

(ICRBM), Potsdam, Germany, September 2018. (Poster presentation).

AUTHORS
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Du Plessis, E. Die wapens van die Eeerste Wereldoorlog: ’n oorlog van eerstes. Congress 

of the South African Society of Cultural History, Pilgrim’s Rest, May 2018. (Oral 

presentation).

Gohodzi, M. Virtual Tours: A new look at our museums. SAMA National Conference, 

Grahamstown. October 2018. (Oral presentation).

Goitsemodimo, A. The Basotho Blanket: a symbol of national identity and global trend. 
th18  Biennial IUAES World Congress, Florianapolis, Brazil, July 2018. (Oral 

presentation).

Hugo-Coetzee, L. & Baumann, J. Biodiversity and climate related distribution of intertidal 

oribatid mites (Acari, Oribatida) from South African shores. South Africa- Austria 

Joint Launching Workshop, University of Pretoria, Pretoria, December 2018. (Oral 

presentation). 

Kirk-Spriggs, A.H. & Muller, B.S. Diptera collection of the National Museum, Bloemfontein 
th– a regional and international resource. 9  International Congress of Dipterology, 

Windhoek, Namibia, November 2018. (Poster presentation).

Malindie, S., Buschke, F. & Codron, D. Stable isotope niche structure of herbivore 

communities provides insights about inter- and intra-specific resource 

partitioning. Annual Conference of the Southern African Wildlife Management 

Association, Bela-Bela, South Africa, September 2018. (Oral presentation). 

Muller, B. Georeferencing workshop, SANBI BIMF-FBIP meeting, August 2018. (co-

facilitated and presented)

Muller, B.S. Diptera collections as data sources for biodiversity and conservation 
thmanagement planning – a South African case study. 9  International Congress 

of Dipterology, Windhoek, Namibia, November 2018. (Oral presentation).

Muller, B.S. & Kirk-Spriggs, A.H. The “Atherix” syndrome – an overview of the systematics 
thand taxonomy of Afrotropical Athericidae. 9  International Congress of 

Dipterology, Windhoek, Namibia, November 2018. (Oral presentation).

Pudumo, K. “24 houses used as ‘curtains’: Digaretene and the 1947 Royal visit in 

Bloemfontein: An oral history overview”. OHASA conference, Cape Town, 

October 2018. (Oral presentation).

Radloff, F.G.T., Mutirwara, R., Balme, G. & Codron, D. Stable isotope analysis of leopard 

whiskers reveals intra-population dietary differences. Annual Conference of the 

Southern African Wildlife Management Association, Bela-Bela, South Africa, 

September 2018 (Oral presentation). 

Rossouw, L. Direct evidence for C4 grasslands from the 1 million year old bone bed at 
thCornelia Uitzoek, Free State Province, South Africa. 20  Biennial Conference of 

the Palaeontological Society of Southern Africa, Bloemfontein, South Africa, July 

2018. (Oral presentation).

Snyders, H. “The Black Orpington of Biff” – The life, times and juvenile boxing career of Joe 
nd“Young Pluto” Brown, c. 1872-1933. Sport, strength and society: 2  African Sport 

History conference, Stellenbosch University Museum, October 2018 (Oral 

presentation).

Snyders, H. Amateur wrestling, apartheid and the politics of the International sports 
ndboycott c. 1948–1990. Sport, strength and society: 2  African Sport History 

conference, Stellenbosch University Museum, October 2018. (Oral presentation).

Snyders, H. Museum Occupational and Health and Wellness Policies. SA Museum 

Association North & Pretoria University, Mini conference in Museum, Heritage and 

Preservation Studies, October 2018. (Oral presentation).

Tshivhandekano, P.G., Kirk-Spriggs, A.H. & Heshula, L.U.P. Towards a taxonomic revision 
thand phylogeny of Natalimyzidae (Schizophora: Sciomyzoidea). 9  International 

Congress of Dipterology, Windhoek, Namibia, November 2018. (Poster 

presentation).

Zietsman, P.C. & Zietsman, L.E. Floristic diversity at Kolomela mine (Kumba Iron Ore) on the 

Ghaap Plateau (Postmasburg). Kolomela Environmental Symposium, 

Postmasburg, April 2018. (Oral presentation).

Zietsman, P.C. & Zietsman, L.E. Wetland vegetation health at Kolomela mine. Kolomela 

Environmental Symposium, Postmasburg, April 2018. (Oral presentation).

Botes, M. The history of Bloemfontein and its historical buildings, especially the First 

Raadsaal Museum and the National Museum. Tracing Liberation bus tour. Free 

State Arts Festival, July 2018.

Botes, M. Heritage and how to protect and promote heritage sites in your community.  

South African Community Development Institute (SACDI), First Raadsaal 

Museum, November 2018.

Botes, M. “Bloemfontein the Beautiful”: Lewenswyse van Bloemfontein se inwoners 

gedurende die laat 19de eeu. The Old Presidency Historical Society, November 

2018.

2. Popular lectures presented by Museum Scientists

AUTHORS
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Botes, M. “Bloemfontein the Beautiful”: Lewenswyse van Bloemfontein se inwoners 

gedurende die laat 19de eeu. Fichardtpark VLU (Women’s Farmers Union), 

March 2019.

Codron, D. Prehistoric animals of the Seven Dams area. “Friends of the 7 Dams” , October 

2018.

De Swardt, D. Winter tyd is suikerbekkie tyd ... Navorsing op nektarvoedende voëls in die 

Vrystaat en in ander provinsies. Aksie Mooi Jare, NG Uitsig Church,  June 2018.

De Swardt, D. “2018 is International year of the Bird” Free State young artist awards 

ceremony, National Museum, July 2018.

De Swardt, D. Birds of the Free State National Botanical Gardens. Junior Landcare 
thAmazing race event, 8  Bieannual National Landcare Conference (Department 

of Agriculture & Rural Development), Free State National Botanical Gardens, 

September 2018.

De Swardt, D. Broeigedrag van Sekretarisvoëls in die Bloemfontein area. Aksie Mooi Jare, 

NG Uitsig Church, October 2018.

Du Bruyn, D. Batho celebrates 100! Batho 100 event at the National Museum September 

2018.

Havenga, S. Behind the scenes in the Collections of the National Museum. Prefects of 

Grey College Secondary School, March 2019.

Neethling, J.A. Spiders and Scorpions: Getting to Know Them. Birdlife Free State, Free 

State Archives, September 2018.

Pudumo, K. African Unity: An exhibition celebrating Africa Month. Oliewenhuis Art 

Museum, May 2018.

Rossouw, L. The Wonder of the Wonderwerk Cave. Go Ghaap Launch, Kuruman, 

October 2018.
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ART EXHIBITIONS HOSTED 
AT OLIEWENHUIS

Inspiration, A travelling Quilt Exhibition presented by the South 
African Quilters Guild.

In perpetuum... , by Beth Diane Armstrong, Standard Bank 
Young Artist for Visual Art 2017.

Best Before, by Margaret Nel.

Visual AIDS: Challenging Narratives, curated by MC Roodt.

Speaking out and standing up: An exhibition in honour of 
South African women, curated by Yolanda de Kock, featuring 
selected artworks from Oliewenhuis Art Museum’s Permanent 
Collection.

TACIT, curated by Elani Willemse, featuring artworks by artists 
associated with Dionysus Sculpture Works’ Studio and Foundry.

th30  Sophia Gray Memorial Exhibition presented by Prof Ora 
Joubert.

TOP UP INSIDE OUT, curated by Lehlohonolo Mkhasibe, 
featuring artworks by members of the artists’ collective Ubuhle 
Bobuntu Arts.
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Insectropolis, bi-annual Brisley school of art student exhibition.

Celebrating Father Frans Claerhout, featuring two series of oil 
paintings; Reconciliation by Women and  Christ and the other 
person and other artworks by him from Oliewenhuis Art 
Museum’s Permanent Collection.

Phatshoane Henney New Breed Art Competition 
Exhibition.

Tswela Pele: New Acquisitions of the Art Bank of South Africa.

#5WomenArtists Campaign, curated by Yolanda de Kock 
featuring selected artworks from Oliewenhuis Art Museum’s 
Permanent Collection.

Light Conversations, curated by the Art Museum Guides, 
featuring selected artworks from Oliewenhuis Art Museum’s 
Permanent Collection.

Centennial, A Century of South African Art from the Sanlam 
Art Collection 1918–2018, curated by Stefan Hundt.

10 Years of Collecting: Additions to the Permanent Collection 
2009–2018, curated by Ester le Roux, featuring artworks from 
Oliewenhuis Art Museum’s Permanent Collection.
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RESEARCH PROJECTS OF THE 
NATIONAL MUSEUM
ARACHNIDA

ARCHAEOLOGY & ANTHROPOLOGY

BOTANY

ENTOMOLOGY

FLORISBAD QUATERNARY RESEARCH

Project 430: Oppiidae (Oppioidea, Oribatida) of South Africa.

Project 441: Revision of the South African Gymnobisiidae (Arachnida: Pseudoscorpiones).

Project 465: Oribatid mites in termite nests

Project 466: Biodiversity and climate related distribution of intertidal oribatid mites from South African 

shores.

Project: Oribatid mites in Sphagnum mosses.

Project: Influence of abiotic factors on activity of trapdoor spiders, scorpions and camel spiders in 

South African grasslands.

Project 342: A description of the Sotho material in the Anthropology collection of the National Museum.

Project 394: Social Dynamics of Water in Thaba Nchu area.

Project 309.2: Palaeoecology of Excavation 1 at Wonderwerk Cave, Northern Cape Province.

Project 309.5: Palaeoecology from the Cornelia-Uitzoek hominine locality, Free State Province, South 

Africa.

Project 309: Grass Phytoliths from the Pleistocene hominin site of Malapa, Sterkfontein Valley, SA.

Project 385: Documenting and interpretation of the archaeological sites in the Venterstad/Steynsburg 

districts (Eastern Cape) with specific focus on the historical period of the earlier Field Cornetcy 

of the Agter Suurberg.

Project 440: An archaeological investigation of the material culture of the French missionaries of the Paris 

Evangelical Mission Society (PEMS) in the Free State and Lesotho.

Project 317: Pollination biology of Harpagophytum procumbens.

Project 337: An Environmental Management Plan for the Sustainable Utilisation of Harpagophytum 

procumbens and Harpagophytum zeyheri in RSA, Namibia and Botswana.

Project 402: Seeds from South African plants as a source of bioactive metabolites.

Project: Biomonitoring at Kolomela Mine (Kumba Iron Ore), Postmasburg.

Project 405: Revision of the Afrotropical species of Curtonotidae (Diptera: Ephydroidea).

Project 406: Behavioural studies of Curtonotum species (Diptera: Curtonotidae) in the Caprivi Region of 

Namibia.

Project 407: Manual of Afrotropical Diptera.

Project 246: A Middle-Late Quaternary palaeo-environmental study of fossil materials from erosional 

areas (dongas) in the Free State Province and adjacent areas.

Project 436: A conceptual model for interpreting variability in isotope niche breadths of fossil populations.

Project 451: Comparative stable isotope ecology of large-bodied mammalian carnivores and herbivores

Project 442: Morphological study of tortoise remains from Wonderwerk cave.

Project: Stable isotope ecology of southern African savannas.

Project: The virtual extraction of tooth enamel from extant and fossil bovid teeth by means of micro-

CT scanning.
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HERPETOLOGY

HISTORY

MAMMALOGY

Project 64.6: Taxonomic revision of the Afroedura nivaria Boulenger complex, with a description of a new 

species (Sauria: Gekkonidae).

Project 65.3: Taxonomic revision of the African lizard genus Tetradactylus (Sauria: Gerrosauridae).

Project 110.1b: The reptiles of Lesotho.

Project 265.3: Species limits in the Pseudocordylus melanotus (A. Smith) complex (Sauria: Cordylidae).

Project 390: Geographical variation in the egg-eating snakes of the genus Dasypeltis in Africa south of 

latitude 12°S.

Project 423.1: Phylogenetic and morphometric analysis of the Afroedura nivaria (Reptilia: Gekkonidae) 

species complex in South Africa.

Project 431.1: Molecular phylogeny and phylogeography of the Pachydactylus capensis species complex 

(Sauria: Gekkonidae).

Project 462.1: Genetic diversity within two widespread Amietia species in central South Africa.

Project: Reptile Speciation Project: Smaug warreni complex project.

Project: Reptile Speciation Project: Cordylus vittifer project.

Project: Reptile Speciation Project:  Dasypeltis project.

Project: Reptile Speciation Project: Amphisbaenian project.

Project: Maluti-Drakensburg Transfrontier Project (MDTP).

Project: Reptile Speciation Project: Gerrhosaurus.

Project 100: The restoration of the corrugated iron house at Florisbad Research Station. 

Project 101: The appearance of gardens during the period 1890-1910 and the replanning of the garden of 

Freshford House Museum. 

Project 259.5: Military operations in Bloemfontein during the late 19the century.

Project 259.6: Medical care, quackery and cures in the 19th century, Bloemfontein.

Project 379: The Batho Community History Project – Digaretene Project.

Project 379.3: Gardens, gardening culture and the development of a 'township topiary' in Batho, 

Mangaung: a cultural historical perspective (1918-1948).

Project 435: The History of Naval Hill, 1846-2014.

Project 454: The tram history of Bloemfontein 1915-1936.

Project 463: Batho: the founding of a 'model location', 1917-1919.

Project: Wrestling with apartheid: RSA-USA amateur wrestling relations, 1960-1991.

Project: The Black Orpington of Biff - colonialism, race and poverty in the prize fighting and boxing 

career of Joe Young Pluto Brown, c 1872-1931.

Project: Our traditional game? Klawerjas, subaltern heritage and marginal community in the Western 

Cape.

Project: Programmes of frivolity on ice? Hockey, business, diasproric identity and apartheid South 

Africa, c. 1910-1992.

Project: From a comical interlude to the Blitzboks: The early history of Rugby Sevens in South Africa, c. 

1904-1970.

Project: Blitzboks and Fast tries - a century of South African Sevens Rugby.

Project 323: Monitoring small mammals effectively: a comparison of trapping methods.

Project 354: Patterns in the soil composition and structure, recovery of vegetation, and changes in mite, 

insect, spider and small mammal communities after fire in a grassland ecosystem, Erfenisdam 

Nature Reserve, Free State Province.

Project 375: Canis Caracal Project.

Project 375.1: Relating Caracal Caracal caracal activity and ranging behaviour to the density, diversity 

and distribution of prey species.

Project 375.2: Determining the impact of black-backed jackal (Canis mesomelas) on the springbok 

(Antidorcas marsupialis) population at Maria Moroka Nature Reserve, Free State, South Africa
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Project 375.3: The impact of predation on Merino and Dorper flocks in the central Free State, South Africa.

Project 375.4: Performance of reproducing Merino ewes on veld when some flocks were supplemented 

with rye-grass and oats pastures.

Project 375.5: Analysing historical hunt records to manage damage causing predators.

Project 392: The Mammals of the Free State.

Project 456: The Mammals of Lesotho.

Project: Biodiversity and global change in southern Africa: Rhabdomys contact zones - windows on 

adaptability and climate change. 

Project: Environmental context of early hominin evolution in South Africa through the lens of rodent 

dietary ecology. 

Project: Sampling the bats of Lesotho. 

Project: Dental microwear of sympatric rodent species sampled across habitats in southern Africa:  

Implications for environmental influence.

Project: The gut microbiome in mammals.

Project 221.2: African Rock Pipit Anthus crenatus vocalizations and aspects of vocal behaviour.

Project 221.3: A study of African Rock Pipit Anthus crenatus territories using sonogram analysis of male 

songs.

Project 377: A comparative taxonomical study between Drakensberg (Prinia hypoxantha) and Karoo 

Prinias (P. maculosa) in the Free State and adjacent areas.

Project 464: Study on Gurne's Sugarbird Promerops gurneyi isolated island population in Limpopo 

Province and adjacent areas and their genetics based on blood sampling from birds

Project: SABAP2 Project.

Project 348.10: A new radiometric date for the South African Permo-Triassic mass extinction event tests the 

synchroneity of the terrestrial and marine biological crisis.

Project 348.11: Comparative ecological dynamics of Permian-Triassic communities from the Karoo, 

Luangwa and Ruhuhu basins of southern Africa.

Project 348.12: Biostratigraphy of the Lystrosaurus Assemblage Zone.

Project 363: Postcranial anatomy of the Early Triassic non-mammaliaform cynodont Galesaurus 

planiceps (Owen, 1859) from the Karoo Basin, South Africa.

Project 368.7: Life history and reproductive strategy of Permo-Triassic Lystrosaurus.

Project 368.12: Osteohistology of prozostrodontid cynodonts from the Upper Triassic of Brazil.

Project 368.14: Non-mammaliaform synapsids

Project 368.15: Bone microstructure of the pareiasaurid Provelosaurus americanus from the Late Permian of 

southern Brazil.

Project 421: Tooth replacement patterns in Eutheriodontia of South Africa.

Project 422.1: Digging the compromise: the functional link between bone microstructure and fossoriality in 

the aardvark (Orycteropus afer).

Project 422.2: Osteohistological characteristics of fossorial mammaels

Project 437: The morphology and osteohistology of a new gorgonopsian (Therapsida; Gorgonopsia) from 

the uppermost Permian of the Karoo Basin, South Africa.

Project 444: Comparative bone histology of Stigmochelys pardalis (Leopard Tortoise), with specific 

reference to ontogeny and biomechanics.

Project 452.2: Osteohistology of the Late Triassic silesaurid Sacisaurus agudoensis from southern Brazil and 

implications for growth in early dinosaurs.

Project 452.3: New osteohistological data on the late Triassic rhynchosaur Hyperodapedon from southern 

Brazil, based on a humeral ontogenetic growth series.

Project 455.1: Giant sauropod from the earliest Jurassic of South Africa and multiple evolutionary transitions 

to quadrupedality in early sauropodomorphs.

ORNITHOLOGY

PALAEONTOLOGY
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Project 455.2: The ontogeny and taxonomy of the basal sauropodomorph dinosaur Massospondylus 

carinatus.

Project 455.3: Postcranial osteology of the neotype specimen of Massospondylus carinatus Owen 1854 

from the upper Elliot formation of South Africa.

Project 455.4: A new species of Massospondylus and comments on cranial ontogeny in M. carinatus.

Project: Battle of Sam iKhubis.

Project: San Rock engravings on Granophyre Dyke.

Project: Historical perspectives on intercultural communications.

ROCK ART
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The National Museum strives to be committed to sound corporate governance and is primarily guided by 

generally accepted corporate governance practices, as well as Corporate Governance in the public 

sector.  These seek to ensure that the Museum's mandate is fulfilled with due consideration to responsive 

decision making, accountability, effective and ethical leadership, as well as fairness and transparency whilst 

monitoring performance and compliance with statutory requirements.

INTRODUCTION

The Executive Authority report is included in Part E.

EXECUTIVE AUTHORITY

The National Museum did not have any internal control unit. Management is responsible for the 
maintenance of internal controls.

INTERNAL CONTROL UNIT

The National Museum is required to maintain an effective, efficient and transparent system of financial, risk 

management and internal control in accordance with the provisions of the PFMA.  Council has identified risk 

management as a focus area and its current practices will be enhanced through the strengthening of the 

policy environment and risk reporting. 

Risks are continuously identified, assessed, evaluated, mitigated, monitored and reviewed.  As each risk was 

identified it was allocated to a relevant person in the respective Department responsible for the day-to-day 

management thereof and recorded in a risk register that contains the descriptions, causes, controls in place, 

assessments and mitigating actions of all risks identified.  The identification was both at an operational and 

strategic levels and regular assessments were performed to determine the effectiveness of the risk 

management and to identify emerging risks.

RISK MANAGEMENT

INTERNAL AUDIT AND
AUDIT COMMITTEES

Objectives of Internal audit

Key Activities of Internal Audit

The objectives of internal audit is to provide an independent, objective assurance and consulting activities 

designed to add value and improve operations of the Museum. 

Risk based strategic approach which takes into account the results of the formal risk assessment conducted 

by management and facilitated by the Internal Audit Unit was used to develop a risk based three year 
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The National Museum has developed policies and procedures aligned to laws and regulations that governs 

the industry in which the Museum operates, in order to ensure compliance. The policies and procedures 

were reviewed and approved by council. The National Museum complied with laws and regulations and no 

material non-compliance was identified by the AGSA during the audit. Compliance is reported on quarterly 

through the Audit Committee.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

The National Museum developed a fraud prevention plan, however due to capacity constraints the plan 

was never implemented. This item will receive attention in the new financial year. The Museum's staff are 

however aware and makes use of the National Fraud hotline. The cases reported through the hotlines were 

followed up and council acted promptly to resolve the cases. The Audit Committee has a scheduled Fraud 

Risk Workshop in 2019.20.

FRAUD AND CORRUPTION

internal audit plan. This is then revised annually and the annual internal audit plan based on updated risk 

assessment is submitted to the audit committee for approval at the start of the financial year. The Internal 

Audit Plan was implemented for 2018.19 and within budget. 

MINIMISING CONFLICT
OF INTEREST

Service providers depending on the threshold as determined in the Museum's Supply Chain Management 

Policy, are required to declare their interest and knowledge of Museum's officials that are or could be 

involved in the respective procurement process in a form of SBD4 form in accordance with National Treasury 

Practise Note 7 of 2009/2010.

CODE OF CONDUCT

As a public entity the Museum subscribes to both the Code of Conduct for Public Servants and the 

International Council of Museums (ICOM) Code of Ethics for Museums. The reason for adopting these two 

Codes is to help Museum employees to understand the standards of personal and professional behaviour 

required to enable the Museum to fulfil its public mandate in terms of the Cultural Institutions Act of 1998 and 

the Public Service Act of 1994.
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The OHS committee was not very active in the financial period due to capacity constraints. A special Health 

and Safety Report was procured to review the Museum's fire hazards. 

HEALTH SAFETY AND
ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

The museum has a social responsibility to the community it serves and advance nation building and social 

cohesion through outreach programs, exhibitions and education on our natural and cultural heritage.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
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Performance Rewards

Programme Performance
rewards

(R'000)

Personnel
Expenditure

(R'000)

% of performance
rewards to total

personnel cost (R'000)

Management 386 38 641 1%
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As the National Museum transforms to respond to the challenges facing museums in the 21st century, a 

number of Human Resources have cropped up.  These are exacerbated by year on year budget cuts for 

Museums. 

Transformation is a key imperative and the Museum is lagging behind when it comes to its scientist and Heads 

of Research departments.  We can only address these challenges when vacancies arise.  This is when we 

experience challenges in attracting candidates who have the skills needed to achieve its strategic 

objectives.

In 2018.19 the Museum focussed on reviewing the organisational structure.  Phase 1 of the project looked at 

reviewing job descriptions to ensure that they were fit for purpose and looking at the grading and salaries of 

each position.  This exercise has been completed and the Museum is awaiting funding confirmation to 

regularise pay anomalies.

The Museum implemented its performance management policy during the year.  There are ongoing efforts 

to ensure that all Managers and staff understand the system in order that it be implemented in a fair and 

sustainable manner.  In the new financial year special focus will be made on ensuring that targets set our 

aligned to job descriptions and are aligned to the Annual Performance Plan of the Museum.

Performance Management

INTRODUCTION

Total Employee Cost

HUMAN RESOURCE
OVERSIGHT STATISTICS

Total 
Expenditure for 

the entity (R'000)

Personnel
Expenditure

(R'000)

Personnel exp.
as a % of total

exp. (R'000)

No. of
employees

Average personnel
cost per employee

(R'000)

48 643 38 641 79% 114 339

Personnel Cost per Management Band

 
Level Personnel

Expenditure
(R'000)

% of personnel exp. 
to total personnel 

cost (R'000)

No. of
employees

Average personnel
cost per employee

(R'000)

Management 2 255 5.8% 3 + Acting allowances 564
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Overall reasons for terminations

The National Museum had a staff attrition of 29.5% (12 out of 114).  The main reason for attrition was due to 

resignations and retirement of workers.

Four staff members retired during the year namely, Gert van Jaarsveld, Dr Hannes Haasbroek, Florie 

Makhabe and Naomi Komako.

Reason

Resignations

Expiry of contract

Deceased

Total terminations

Number

4

0.8%1

3.5%

7 6.1%

0 0%

12 10.5%

% of staff leaving

Retirement

Training Costs

The National Museum conducted the following training interventions during the year.

 
Personnel

Expenditure
(R'000)

No Training
Intervention and
Dates

Internal / External No of Staff
attended

Costs

1 Bid Committee
Training

Internal 10 60 000

2 Diversity Human
Rights (specifically
Racism)
August 2018

Internal 114 Free

3 Social Media
Marketing

External 10 (War Museum
sent 1 staff
member)

R 22 309.72

4

TOTAL TRAINING INTERVENTIONS 154

R 82 303.72TOTAL COSTS

Financial Wellness,
budgeting,
investments etc.

External All staff were
invited

R nil

Training
Expenditure

(R'000)

Training Expenditure
as a % of Personnel

Cost (R'000)

No. of
employees

trained

Avg training cost
per employee

(R'000)

38 641 82 0.2% 154 3
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Statement of Responsibility for the Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2019

The Accounting Authority is responsible for the preparation of the public entity's annual financial statements 

and for the judgements made in this information.

The Accounting Authority is responsible for establishing, and implementing a system of internal control 

designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the annual financial 

statements.

In my opinion, the financial statements fairly reflect the operations of the public entity for the financial year 

ended 31 March 2019. 

The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the AFS of the public entity. 

The annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 have been audited by the external 

auditors and their report is presented on page 62.

The Annual Financial Statements of the public entity set out on page 66 to page 129 have been approved.

Sharon Snell Adv. Judith Leshabane
Chief Executive Officer Chairperson of the board
National Museum, Bloemfontein National Museum, Bloemfontein
 31 July 2019  31 July 2019

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY
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Report of the auditor-general to Parliament on the National Museum

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

Basis for opinion

Emphasis of matter

Responsibilities of accounting authority for the financial statements

1. I have audited the financial statements of the National Museum set out on pages 66 to 129, which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019, the statement of financial 
performance, statement of changes in net assets, cash flow statement and the statement of 
comparison of budget and actual amounts for the year then ended, as well as the notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

2. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
National Museum as at 31 March 2019, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with South African Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA 
Standards of GRAP) and the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa (Act 
No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA). 

3. I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs).  My 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor-general’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements section of this auditor’s report.

4. I am independent of the public entity in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ Code of ethics for professional accountants (IESBA code) and the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to my audit in South Africa.  I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements and the IESBA code.

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion.

6. I draw attention to the matter below.  My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

7. As disclosed in note 33 to the financial statements, the corresponding figures for 31 March 2018 were 
restated as a result of an error in the financial statements of the public entity at, and for the year ended, 
31 March 2019.

8. As disclosed in note 34 to the financial statements, irregular expenditure of R2 086 000 (2018: R4 598 000) 
was written off.

9. The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with SA Standard of GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA, and for such 
internal control as the accounting authority determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

10. In preparing the financial statements, the accounting authority is responsible for assessing the National 
Museum’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the appropriate governance structure 
either intends to liquidate the public entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do 
so.

Restatement of corresponding figures 

Irregular expenditure written off

REPORT OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR
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Auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Introduction and scope

11. My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes my opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with the ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

12. A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is included in the 
annexure to this auditor’s report.

13. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and the general 
notice issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report material findings on the reported 
performance information against predetermined objectives for selected programmes presented in the 
annual performance report.  I performed procedures to identify findings but not to gather evidence to 
express assurance.

14. My procedures address the reported performance information, which must be based on the approved 
performance planning documents of the public entity.  I have not evaluated the completeness and 
appropriateness of the performance indicators/measures included in the planning documents.  My 
procedures also did not extend to any disclosures or assertions relating to planned performance 
strategies and information in respect of future periods that may be included as part of the reported 
performance information.  Accordingly, my findings do not extend to these matters.

15. I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information in accordance with 
the criteria developed from the performance management and reporting framework, as defined in the 
general notice, for the following selected programmes presented in the annual performance report of 
the public entity for the year ended 31 March 2019:

Report on the audit of the annual performance report

16. I performed procedures to determine whether the reported performance information was properly 
presented and whether performance was consistent with the approved performance planning 
documents. I performed further procedures to determine whether the indicators and related targets 
were measurable and relevant, and assessed the reliability of the reported performance information to 
determine whether it was valid, accurate and complete.

17. I did not raise any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance 
information for this programme:

• Business development

18. I draw attention to the matter below.

19. Refer to the annual performance report on pages 28 to 37 for information on the achievement of 
planned targets for the year and explanations provided for the under-/overachievement of a significant 
number of targets.

Other matter

Introduction and scope

Achievement of planned targets

Report on the audit of compliance with legislation

Programmes Pages in the annual 
performance report

Programme 2 - Business development 28-30
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20. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to 
report material findings on the compliance of the public entity with specific matters in key legislation.  I 
performed procedures to identify findings but not to gather evidence to express assurance.

21. The material findings on compliance with specific matters in key legislations are as follows:

22. The financial statements submitted for auditing were not prepared in accordance with the prescribed 
financial reporting framework and supported by full and proper records, as required by section 55(1)(a) 
and (b) of the PFMA.

23. Effective and appropriate steps were not taken to prevent irregular expenditure of R247 808,64 as 
disclosed in note 33 to the annual financial statements, as required by section 51(1)(b)(ii) of the PFMA.  
The irregular expenditure disclosed in the financial statements was due non-compliance with the supply 
chain laws and regulations.

24. I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that disciplinary steps were taken against 
some of the officials who had incurred or permitted irregular expenditure, as required by section 
51(1)(e)(iii) of the PFMA.  This was due to proper and complete records that were not maintained as 
evidence to support the investigations into irregular expenditure.

25. The accounting authority is responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report.  The other information does not include the financial 
statements, the auditor’s report and those selected programmes presented in the annual performance 
report that have been specifically reported in this auditor’s report.

26. My opinion on the financial statements and findings on the reported performance information and 
compliance with legislation do not cover the other information and I do not express an audit opinion or 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

27. In connection with my audit, my responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements and the selected 
programmes presented in the annual performance report, or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

28. If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement in this other 
information, I am required to report that fact.

29. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, reported performance 
information and compliance with applicable legislation; however, my objective was not to express any 
form of assurance on it.  The matters reported below are limited to the significant internal control 
deficiencies that resulted in the findings on compliance with legislation included in this report.

30. Management did not adequately oversee financial reporting, compliance and related internal controls 
as it did not ensure that there were sound internal controls in the daily operations of the museum.  This 
was caused by instability in the leadership of the museum during the year.

Bloemfontein

31 July 2019

Annual financial statements

Irregular expenditure

Consequence management

Other information

Internal control deficiencies
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Annexure – Auditor-general's responsibility for the audit

1. As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, I exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout my audit of the financial statements, and the procedures performed 
on reported performance information for selected programmes and on the public entity’s compliance 
with respect to the selected subject matters.

2. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the financial statements as described in this auditor’s 
report, I also: 

?identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.  The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control

?obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the public entity's internal control

?evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the accounting authority

?conclude on the appropriateness of the accounting authority’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements.  I also conclude, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the National Museum’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If I 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the financial statements about the material uncertainty or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify the opinion on the financial statements.  My conclusions are 
based on the information available to me at the date of this auditor's report.  However, future events 
or conditions may cause a public entity to cease continuing as a going concern

?evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

3. I communicate with the accounting authority regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that I identify during my audit. 

4. I also confirm to the accounting authority that I have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and communicate all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to have a bearing on my independence and, where applicable, related safeguards. 

Financial statements

Communication with those charged with governance
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NATIONAL MUSEUM, BLOEMFONTEIN

31 MARCH 2019

The reports and statements set out below comprise the financial statements presented to the 
Department of Arts and Culture:
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The Accounting Authority is required by the Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 1 of 1999)  to maintain 
adequate accounting records and is responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial 
statements and related financial information included in this report.  It is the responsibility of the Accounting 
Officer to ensure that the annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the National 
Museum as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year then 
ended.  The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual financial 
statements and were given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data.

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by 
the Accounting Standards Board.

The annual financial statements are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and 
supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The Accounting Officer acknowledges that she is ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial 
control established by the department and places considerable importance on maintaining a strong 
control environment.  To enable the Accounting Officer to meet these responsibilities, the Accounting 
Officer sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or deficit in a cost effective 
manner.  The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, 
effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk.  
These controls are monitored throughout the department and all employees are required to maintain the 
highest ethical standards in ensuring the department’s business is conducted in a manner that in all 
reasonable circumstances is above reproach.  The focus of risk management in the department is on 
identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the department.  While 
operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the department endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that 
appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within 
predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Accounting Officer is of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, 
that the system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on 
for the preparation of the annual financial statements.  However, any system of internal financial control can 
provide only reasonable, and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or deficit.

The Accounting Officer has reviewed the museum’s cash flow forecast for the year to 31 March 2019 and, in 
the light of this review and the current financial position, she is satisfied that the National Museum has 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the National Museum’s 
annual financial statements.  The annual financial statements have been examined by the National 
Museum’s external auditors and their report is separately presented.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 66-129, which have been prepared on the going concern 
basis, were approved by the Accounting Officer on 31 March 2019.

Sharon Snell
Chief Executive Officer
National Museum, Bloemfontein
31 March 2019

REPORT OF THE 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 31 March 2019.

Audit committee members and attendance

The Audit Committee consists of the external Members listed here under is required to meet a minimum of at 
least two times per annum as per the provisions of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA).  In terms of 
the approved Audit Committee Charter four meetings were held during the year, i.e. three meetings to 
consider the Quarterly Performance Reporting (financial and non-financial) and one meetings to review 
and discuss the Annual Financial Statements and the Auditor-General of South Africa’s (AGSA) Audit and 
Management Reports.

Name of member Number of meetings attended
Mr. K. Nkoe (Chairperson) 4 (3 year term appointed as independent member)
Mr. N. Noge 2 (3 year term appointed as non-independent member) 
Mr. M.P. Mphi 2 (3 year term appointed as independent member)
Mr. M.R. Mothapo 2 (3 year term appointed as independent member)
Dr. L. Munsamy 2 (3 year term appointed as non-independent member)

Audit committee responsibility

The audit committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from section 38(10)(1) of the 
PFMA and Treasury Regulation 3.1.  The Audit Committee also reports that it has adopted appropriate formal 
Terms of Reference as its Audit Charter.  Further, it has conducted its affairs in compliance with this Charter 
and has discharged all its responsibilities as contained therein.

The committee has performed the following key responsibilities:

• Adopted the audit and risk management charter and proposed approved to council.
• Reconfirm the appropriateness of the internal audit charter and methodology.
• Approved the internal audit plan for the financial year and monitored to the implementation 

of the plan; 
• Evaluated the findings raised by internal and external audit and made recommendations on 

addressing those matters;
• Performed a review of financial information submitted to the committee and commented 

specifically on concerns raised based on year-to-date information and accuracy of 
projections

• Liaised with the Auditor-General on matters relating to communication with those charged 
with governance.

The effectiveness of internal control

The Committee acknowledges management’s effort to maintain controls within the organisation. 
Management needs to improve on the system of internal controls for risk management.

Management is responsible for the organisation’s system of internal controls.  These are designed to provide 
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance as to the reliability of the Financial Statements and to adequately 
safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of assets, and prevent and detect misstatement and losses.  
Nothing has come to the attention of Management and the Audit and Risk Committee to indicate that any 
material breakdown in the functioning of these controls, procedure and systems has occurred during the 
year under review, internal auditors reported instances of non-compliance or weakness in internal controls.  
The Audit and Risk Committee assessed management's comments to the findings and are satisfied with the 
adequacy thereof and the remedial steps management have proposed to deal with the findings.  The Audit 
Committee will receive a quarterly tracking register wherefrom they will track management’s progress in 
resolving the findings.

The Committee is satisfied with the content and quality of management and quarterly reports prepared and 
issued during the financial year under review.

Internal audit

In terms of the PFMA, the Accounting Officer needs to ensure that the department has a system of internal 
audit under control and direction of the Committee. The internal audit function has been outsourced.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
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The Committee is satisfied that the internal audit function is operating effectively and that it has addressed 
the risks pertinent to the entity.  The Committee is satisfied that the internal audit function maintains an 
effective internal quality assurance and programme that covers all aspects of the internal audit activities.

Mr. K. Nkoe
Chairperson of the Audit Committee
31 March 2019



71



72



73



74



75



76



77

STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS

1. Trading revenue

The difference is caused by the selling of cars at the staff auction which was not budgeted for at the 
beginning of the year.

2. Interest income

The difference is caused by getting a better rate from ABSA for a positive bank balance and interest 
received from financial institutions cannot be accurately estimated as the rates are not controlled by the 
National Museum.

3. Staff costs

The difference is caused by salary savings as a result of vacant posts.

4. Other operating costs

The other operating costs differences is caused by grants expenditure which was not included in the budget 
as grants expenses before they are incurred they have to comply with the grant conditions.

5. Depreciation

The difference of the depreciation cannot be reliably estimated as it is determined by the number of assets 
purchased during the year.  Fluctuations are as a result of an unexpected asset purchases during the year.

6. Property, plant and equipment

The difference is as a result of unplanned expenditure due to either replacement of assets and purchasing of 
laptops due to new staff being employed by the entity.

7. Finance lease obligation

The difference is as a result of the photocopying machine being a budgeted expenditure and not an item of 
property, plant and equipment of which contrary to the Standard.  GRAP 13 requests that we recognise the 
asset on substance over form therefore resulting in a finance lease liability.

8. Inventory

The difference is as a result of a new Project of the Department of Arts and Culture that have purchased 
artworks and it was not properly planned for, therefore resulting in a significant difference of R1,660,000.

9. Interest received

The difference between budgeted and actual income received was due to changes in the interest rate for 
the investment accounts of which the National Museum has no control over as they are determined by the 
financial institutions.

10. Rental income

The difference is as a result of the renovations that were in progress at the Oliwenhuis Art Museum for the 
rental of facilities which took longer than expected therefore resulting in Iewers Nice only renting the facilities 
for 2 months of the year.

11. Retirement benefit obligations

The difference is as a result of actuarial estimates of which they had assessed that the retirement benefit 
would have actuarial losses but after the actual report that was a slight actuarial gain for the financial year 
ended 31 March 2019.



78

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. Presentation of Financial Statements

These Financial Statements are for the National Museum, Bloemfontein.
The National Museum was established in terms of section 3 of the Cultural Institutions Act, 1998 (Act No. 119 of 
1998), and in terms of section 5 it is governed by a Council appointed by the Minister of Arts and Culture.
The National Museum is a Schedule 3A public entity as per the Public Finance Management Act. Act No 1 of 
1999.

The National Department of Arts and Culture is the controlling entity of the National Museum.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP), issued by the Accounting Standards Board in accordance with Section 91(1) 
of the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999).

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

1.1 Going concern assumption

These financial statements have been prepared based on the assumption that the entity is a going concern 
and will continue to operate and meet its statutory obligations for at least the next 12 months.

Funds were obtained and used in accordance with a legally adopted budget.

1.2 Comparative figures

When the presentation or classification of items in the financial statements is amended, prior period 
comparative amounts are also restated and reclassified.  The nature and reason for the reclassification will 
be disclosed.

Where accounting errors relating to prior periods have been identified in the current year, the correction is 
made retrospectively as far as it is practicable, and the prior year comparatives are restated accordingly.

Where there has been a change in accounting policy in the current year, the adjustment is made 
retrospectively as far as is practicable, and the prior year comparatives are restated accordingly.
The presentation and classification of items in the current year is consistent with prior periods, unless specified 
otherwise.

1.3 Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies

The use of judgement, estimates and assumptions is inherent to the process of preparing annual financial 
statements. These judgements, estimates and assumptions could result in outcomes that require a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of the relevant asset or liability in the future periods.

Judgements

In the process of applying these accounting policies, management has made certain judgements that may 
have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Estimates

The entity makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at date 
of Financial Position as well as the reported revenue and expenses for the year.

Estimates and judgements are evaluated annually and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.

Receivables

The museum assesses its trade receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting period.  In 
determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in surplus or deficit, the museum makes 
judgements as to whether there is observable data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated 
future cash flows from a financial asset.

The impairment for trade receivables is calculated on a portfolio basis, based on historical loss ratios, 
adjusted for national and industry-specific economic conditions and other indicators present at the 
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reporting date that correlate with defaults on the portfolio.  These annual loss ratios are applied to balances 
in the portfolio and scaled to the estimated loss emergence period.

Impairment testing

The recoverable(service)amountsof cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined 
based on the higher of value-in-use calculations and fair values less costs to sell.  These calculations require 
the use of estimates and assumptions.  It is reasonably possible that the assumptions may change which may 
then impact our estimations and may then require a material adjustment to the carrying value of tangible 
assets.

Provisions

Provisions are measured as the present value of the estimated future outflows required to settle the 
obligation.  In the process of determining the best estimate of the amounts that will be required in the future 
to settle the provision management considers the weighted average possibility of the potential outcomes of 
the provisions raised.  This measurement entails determining what the different potential outcomes are of a 
provision as well as the financial impact of each of those potential outcomes. Management then assigns a 
weighting factor of each of these outcomes will materialise in future.  The factor is then applied to each of 
the potential outcomes and the factored outcomes are then added together to arrive at the weighted 
average value of the provisions.

Post retirement benefits

The costs of the benefits and the present value of the post retirement benefit liabilities depend on a number 
of factors that are determined by an actuarial valuation using a number of assumptions.

These include the determination of the discount rate, future salary increases, mortality rates and future 
pension increases.  Due to the complexity of the valuation, the underlying assumptions and its long term 
nature, a defined benefit obligation is hugely sensitive to changes in these assumptions.

Any changes in these assumptions will impact the charge to the Performance Statement and the Position 
Statement.  All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.

Effective interest rate

The National Museum  used the prime interest rate to discount future cash flows.

Allowance for impairment

For receivables an impairment loss is recognised in surplus and deficit when there is objective evidence that it 
is impaired.  The impairment is measured as the difference between the receivables carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate, computed at initial 
recognition.

Value in use of cash generating asset

The museum reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  Assets are grouped at the lowest level for which 
identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other assets and liabilities.  If there are 
indications that impairment may have occurred, estimates are prepared of expected future cash flows for 
each group of assets.  Expected future cash flows used to determine the value in use of tangible assets are 
inherently uncertain and could materially change over time.  They are significantly affected by a number of 
factors, together with economic factors such as inflation and interest.

Value in use of non-cash generating assets

The museum reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  If there are indications that impairment may have 
occurred, the remaining service potential of the asset is determined.  The most appropriate approach 
selected to determine the remaining service potential is dependant on the availability of data and the 
nature of the impairment.

1.4 Property, plant and equipment

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

• it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item 
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will flow to the entity; and 
•  the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the purchase price and other costs attributable to 
bring the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management.  Trade discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost.

Where an asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, its cost is its fair value as at date of 
acquisition.

Where an item of property, plant and equipment is acquired in exchange for a non-monetary asset or 
monetary assets, or a combination of monetary and non-monetary assets, the asset acquired is initially 
measured at fair value (the cost).  If the acquired item’s fair value was not determinable, it's deemed cost is 
the carrying amount of the asset(s) given up.

When significant components of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they 
are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and 
costs incurred subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it.  If a replacement cost is recognised in the 
carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is 
derecognised.

The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is 
located is also included in the cost of property, plant and equipment, where the entity is obligated to incur 
such expenditure, and where the obligation arises as a result of acquiring the asset or using it for purposes 
other than the production of inventories.

Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment ceases when the 
item is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management.

Items such as spare parts, standby equipment and servicing equipment are recognised when they meet the 
definition of property, plant and equipment.

Major inspection costs which are a condition of continuing use of an item of property, plant and equipment 
and which meet the recognition criteria above are included as a replacement in the cost of the item of 
property, plant and equipment.  Any remaining inspection costs from the previous inspection are 
derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight line basis over their expected useful lives to 
their estimated residual value.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

The depreciable amount of an asset is allocated on a systematic basis over its useful life.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost 
of the item is depreciated separately.

The depreciation method used reflects the pattern in which the asset’s future economic benefits or service 
potential are expected to be consumed by the entity.  The depreciation method applied to an asset is 
reviewed at least at each reporting date and, if there has been a significant change in the expected pattern 
of consumption of the future economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset, the method is 
changed to reflect the changed pattern.  Such a change is accounted for as a change in an accounting 
estimate.

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that the entity expectations about 
the residual value and the useful life of an asset have changed since the preceding reporting date.  If any 
such indication exists, the entity revises the expected useful life and/or residual value accordingly.  The 
change is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate.
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The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying 
amount of another asset.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised when the asset is disposed of or when there are no 
further economic benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in 
surplus or deficit when the item is derecognised.  The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of 
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, 
and the carrying amount of the item.

Assets which the entity holds for rentals to others and subsequently routinely sell as part of the ordinary course 
of activities, are transferred to inventories when the rentals end and the assets are available-for-sale.  
Proceeds from sales of these assets are recognised as revenue.  All cash flows on these assets are included in 
cash flows from operating activities in the cash flow statement.

The entity separately discloses expenditure to repair and maintain property, plant and equipment in the 
notes to the financial statements (see note).

The entity discloses relevant information relating to assets under construction or development, in the notes to 
the financial statements (see note).

1.5 Heritage assets

An item is recognised as a heritage asset in terms of GRAP 103 when:
- it meets the definition of an asset.
- it meets the definition of a heritage asset.
- it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the asset will flow to 

the entity: and
- its costs can be measured reliably.

A heritage asset is an asset which have cultural, environmental, historical, natural, scientific, technological or 
artistic significance and are held indefinitely for the benefit or present and future generations.

A heritage asset is derecognised when it is disposed off or when no future economic benefits or potential is 
expected.

Any gain or loss is recognised in surplus or deficit.  Heritage assets are initially measured at cost unless the 
heritage assets were obtained through a non-exchange transaction, then it will be measured at fair value at 
date of acquisition.

Heritage assets are subsequently measured according to the cost model.  After recognition as an asset, a 
class of heritage assets shall be carried at its cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Heritage assets are not depreciated due to the uncertainty regarding their estimated useful lives.

Initial measurement

Heritage assets are measured at cost.

Where a heritage asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, its cost is measured at its fair value 
as at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition, items of heritage assets are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.  Subsequent to initial recognition, certain classes of heritage assets ie 
Artworks are measured using the revaluation model.  Application of the revaluation model results in carrying 
classes of heritage assets at re-valued amounts.

The National Museum  has elected the cost model and shall apply this policy to the following classes of 
heritage assets: Natural History
Cultural History and:
Library Books

The National Museum  has elected  the revaluation model and shall apply this policy to the following classes 
of heritage assets: Artwork (An independent revaluation will be conducted after every 3-5 years).
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Depreciation for these classes of heritage assets is adjusted proportionately for the revaluation increases and 
decreases upon revaluation of the items of heritage assets.  Revaluation increases/decreases are 
recognised in the revaluation reserve within the statement of changes in net assets.  Where the revaluation 
model is applied, it is done so over a period of 3- 5 years according to heritage assets policy of the National 
Museum for the entire class of assets. l.

Impairment

The National Museum tests for impairment where there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.  An 
assessment of whether there is an indication of possible impairment is done at each reporting date.  Where 
the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable 
amount (or recoverable service amount), it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount (or 
recoverable service amount) and an impairment loss is charged to the statement of Financial Performance.

An impairment is reversed only to the extent that the assets carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined if no impairment had been recognised.  A reversal of the 
impairment is recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance.

Derecognition

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised when the asset is disposed off or when there are 
no further economic benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
determined as a difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying value and is recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Performance.

The following assets are not recorded in the Statement of Financial Position:
Land and buildings made available to the National Museum in terms of section 9 of the Cultural Institutions 
Act, 1998 (Act No.119 of 1998). (Buildings owned by the Department of Public Works are made available to 
the National Museum in order to perform its functions.)

1.6 Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 
a residual interest of another entity.

The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or 
financial liability is measured at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative 
amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the 
maturity amount, and minus any reduction (directly or through the use of an allowance account) for 
impairment or uncollectibility.

A concessionary loan is a loan granted to or received by an entity on terms that are not market related.

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by 
failing to discharge an obligation.

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates.

Derecognition is the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability from an entity's 
statement of financial position.

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics:
• Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument 

price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit 
index, or other variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable that the variable is 
not specific to a party to the contract (sometimes called the ‘underlying’). 

• It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be 
required for other types of contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to 
changes in market factors.

• It is settled at a future date.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial 
liability (or group of financial assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or interest 
expense over the relevant period.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, 
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a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.  When calculating the 
effective interest rate, an entity shall estimate cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial 
instrument (for example, prepayment, call and similar options) but shall not consider future credit losses.  The 
calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral 
part of the effective interest rate (see the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from Exchange Transactions), 
transaction costs, and all other premiums or discounts.  There is a presumption that the cash flows and the 
expected life of a group of similar financial instruments can be estimated reliably.  However, in those rare 
cases when it is not possible to reliably estimate the cash flows or the expected life of a financial instrument 
(or group of financial instruments), the entity shall use the contractual cash flows over the full contractual 
term of the financial instrument (or group of financial instruments).

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 
knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

A financial asset is:
• cash;
• a residual interest of another entity; or a contractual right to:

- receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or
- exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions 

that are potentially favourable to the entity.

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to 
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in 
accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to:
• deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or
• exchange financial assets or financial liabilities under conditions that are potentially 

unfavourable to the entity.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates.

Liquidity risk is the risk encountered by an entity in the event of difficulty in meeting obligations associated 
with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

Loan commitment is a firm commitment to provide credit under pre-specified terms and conditions.

Loans payable are financial liabilities, other than short-term payables on normal credit terms.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other 
price risk.

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those 
changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting 
all similar financial instruments traded in the market.

A financial asset is past due when a counterparty has failed to make a payment when contractually due.

A residual interest is any contract that manifests an interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities.  A residual interest includes contributions from owners, which may be shown as:

• equity instruments or similar forms of unitised capital;
• a formal designation of a transfer of resources (or a class of such transfers) by the parties to the 

transaction as forming part of an entity’s net assets, either before the contribution occurs or at 
the time of the contribution; or

• a formal agreement, in relation to the contribution, establishing or increasing an existing f
inancial interest in the net assets of an entity.

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a 
financial asset or financial liability.  An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the entity 
had not acquired, issued or disposed of the financial instrument.

Financial instruments at amortised cost are non-derivative financial assets or non-derivative financial 
liabilities that have fixed or determinable payments, excluding those instruments that:

• the entity designates at fair value at initial recognition; or 
• are held for trading.
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Financial instruments at cost are investments in residual interests that do not have a quoted market price in 
an active market, and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured.

Financial instruments at fair value comprise financial assets or financial liabilities that are:
• derivatives;
• combined instruments that are designated at fair value;
• instruments held for trading.  A financial instrument is held for trading if:

- it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the 
near-term; or

- on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are 
managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of 
short term profit-taking;

- non-derivative financial assets or financial liabilities with fixed or determinable 
payments that are designated at fair value at initial recognition; and

- financial instruments that do not meet the definition of financial instruments at 
amortised cost or financial instruments at cost.

Initial recognition

The entity recognises a financial asset or a financial liability in its statement of financial position when the 
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The entity recognises financial assets using trade date accounting.

Derecognition

Financial assets

The entity derecognises financial assets using trade date accounting.  The entity derecognises a financial 
asset only when:

• the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, are settled or waived;
• the entity transfers to another party substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of 

the financial asset; or 
• the entity, despite having retained some significant risks and rewards of ownership of the 

financial asset, has transferred control of the asset to another party and the other party has 
the practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party, and is able to 
exercise that ability unilaterally and without needing to impose additional restrictions on the 
transfer.  In this case, the entity :
- derecognise the asset; and
- recognise separately any rights and obligations created or retained in the transfer.

The carrying amounts of the transferred asset are allocated between the rights or obligations retained and 
those transferred on the basis of their relative fair values at the transfer date.  Newly created rights and 
obligations are measured at their fair values at that date.  Any difference between the consideration 
received and the amounts recognised and derecognised is recognised in surplus or deficit in the period of 
the transfer.

If the entity transfers a financial asset in a transfer that qualifies for derecognition in its entirety and retains the 
right to service the financial asset for a fee, it recognise either a servicing asset or a servicing liability for that 
servicing contract.  If the fee to be received is not expected to compensate the entity adequately for 
performing the servicing, a servicing liability for the servicing obligation is recognised at its fair value.  If the 
fee to be received is expected to be more than adequate compensation for the servicing, a servicing asset 
is recognised for the servicing right at an amount determined on the basis of an allocation of the carrying 
amount of the larger financial asset.

If, as a result of a transfer, a financial asset is derecognised in its entirety but the transfer results in the entity 
obtaining a new financial asset or assuming a new financial liability, or a servicing liability, the entity 
recognise the new financial asset, financial liability or servicing liability at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum 
of the consideration received is recognised in surplus or deficit.

If the transferred asset is part of a larger financial asset and the part transferred qualifies for derecognition in 
its entirety, the previous carrying amount of the larger financial asset is allocated between the part that 
continues to be recognised and the part that is derecognised, based on the relative fair values of those 
parts, on the date of the transfer.  For this purpose, a retained servicing asset is treated as a part that 
continues to be recognised.  The difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part 
derecognised and the sum of the consideration received for the part derecognised is recognised in surplus 
or deficit.
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If a transfer does not result in derecognition because the entity has retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the transferred asset, the entity continues to recognise the transferred asset in its 
entirety and recognise a financial liability for the consideration received.  In subsequent periods, the entity 
recognises any revenue on the transferred asset and any expense incurred on the financial liability. Neither 
the asset, and the associated liability nor the revenue, and the associated expenses are offset.

Presentation

Interest relating to a financial instrument or a component that is a financial liability is recognised as revenue 
or expense in surplus or deficit.

Dividends or similar distributions relating to a financial instrument or a component that is a financial liability is 
recognised as revenue or expense in surplus or deficit.

Losses and gains relating to a financial instrument or a component that is a financial liability is recognised as 
revenue or expense in surplus or deficit.

Distributions to holders of residual interests are recognised by the entity directly in net assets.  Transaction 
costs incurred on residual interests are accounted for as a deduction from net assets.  Income tax [where 
applicable] relating to distributions to holders of residual interests and to transaction costs incurred on 
residual interests are accounted for in accordance with the International Accounting Standard on Income 
Taxes.

A financial asset and a financial liability are only offset and the net amount presented in the statement of 
financial position when the entity currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts 
and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

In accounting for a transfer of a financial asset that does not qualify for derecognition, the entity does not 
offset the transferred asset and the associated liability.

1.7 Tax

Tax expenses

The entity is exempt from taxation in terms of section 10(1)(cA)(i) of the Income Tax Act.  Donations made to 
or by the entity are exempt from Donations Tax in terms of section 56(1)(h) of the Income Tax Act.

The entity is exempt from payment of Estate Duty in terms of section 4(h) of the Estate Duty Act no. 45 of 1995.

The entity is not registered for value added tax in terms of section 24(1) of the Value Added Tax Act of 1991.

1.8  Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership.  A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership.

When a lease includes both land and buildings elements, the entity assesses the classification of each 
element separately.

Operating leases - lessor

Operating lease revenue is recognised as revenue on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging operating leases are added to the carrying amount 
of the leased asset and recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the lease 
revenue.

The aggregate cost of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental revenue over the lease term on a 
straight-line basis.

The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a 
straight-line basis. Income for leases is disclosed under revenue in statement of financial performance.

Operating leases - lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  The 
difference between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised 
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as an operating lease asset or liability.

1.9  Inventories

Inventories are initially measured at cost except where inventories are acquired through a non-exchange 
transaction, then their costs are their fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Subsequently inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and current replacement cost where they are held for;
• distribution at no charge or for a nominal charge; or
• consumption in the production process of goods to be distributed at no charge or for a 

nominal charge.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of operations less the estimated costs 
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale, exchange or distribution.

Current replacement cost is the cost the entity incurs to acquire the asset on the reporting date.

The cost of inventories comprises of all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in 
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

The cost of inventories of items that are not ordinarily interchangeable and goods or services produced and 
segregated for specific projects is assigned using specific identification of the individual costs.

The cost of inventories is assigned using the  formula.  The same cost formula is used for all inventories having a 
similar nature and use to the entity.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amounts of those inventories are recognised as an expense in the 
period in which the related revenue is recognised.  If there is no related revenue, the expenses are 
recognised when the goods are distributed, or related services are rendered.  The amount of any write-down 
of inventories to net realisable value or current replacement cost and all losses of inventories are recognised 
as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs.  The amount of any reversal of any write-down of 
inventories, arising from an increase in net realisable value or current replacement cost, are recognised as a 
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

1.10 Impairment of cash-generating assets

Cash-generating assets are assets used with the objective of generating a commercial return.  Commercial 
return means that positive cash flows are expected to be significantly higher than the cost of the asset.

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service potential of an asset, over and above the 
systematic recognition of the loss of the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential through 
depreciation (amortisation).

Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognised in the statement of financial position after 
deducting any accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses thereon.

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets used with the objective of generating a 
commercial return that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash 
inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

Costs of disposal are incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset, excluding finance 
costs and income tax expense.

Depreciation (Amortisation) is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful 
life.

Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm's length transaction 
between knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs of disposal.

Recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher its fair value less costs to sell and its 
value in use.

Useful life is either:
• the period of time over which an asset is expected to be used by the entity; or
• the number of production or similar units expected to be obtained from the asset by the 

entity.
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Judgements made by management in applying the criteria to designate assets as cash-generating assets or 
non-cash-generating assets, are as follows:

1.11 Share capital / contributed capital

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities.

1.12 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such 
as paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care), are 
recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render 
services that increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence 
occurs.

The expected cost of surplus sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal 
or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

Defined contribution plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense as they fall due.

Payments made to industry-managed (or state plans) retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as defined 
contribution plans where the entity's obligation under the schemes is equivalent to those arising in a defined 
contribution retirement benefit plan.

Defined benefit plans

For defined benefit plans the cost of providing the benefits is determined using the projected credit method.

Actuarial valuations are conducted on an annual basis by independent actuaries separately for each plan.

Consideration is given to any event that could impact the funds up to end of the reporting period where the 
interim valuation is performed at an earlier date.

Past service costs are recognised immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested, and are 
otherwise amortised on a straight line basis over the average period until the amended benefits become 
vested.

To the extent that, at the beginning of the financial period, any cumulative unrecognised actuarial gain or 
loss exceeds ten percent of the greater of the present value of the projected benefit obligation and the fair 
value of the plan assets (the corridor), that portion is recognised in surplus or deficit over the expected 
average remaining service lives of participating employees.  Actuarial gains or losses within the corridor are 
not recognised.

Gains or losses on the curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan is recognised when the entity is 
demonstrably committed to curtailment or settlement.

When it is virtually certain that another party will reimburse some or all of the expenditure required to settle a 
defined benefit obligation, the right to reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset.  The asset is 
measured at fair value.  In all other respects, the asset is treated in the same way as plan assets.  In surplus or 
deficit, the expense relating to a defined benefit plan is presented as the net of the amount recognised for a 
reimbursement.

The amount recognised in the statement of financial position represents the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation as adjusted for unrecognised actuarial gains and losses and unrecognised past service 
costs, and reduces by the fair value of plan assets.

Any asset is limited to unrecognised actuarial losses and past service costs, plus the present value of 
available refunds and reduction in future contributions to the plan.
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1.13 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when the museum has a present obligation as a result of a past event; it is probable 
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required to settle the 
obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation. 

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the 
present obligation at the reporting date.  Where the effect of time value of money is material, the amount of 
a provision is the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.  The 
discount rate is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the liability.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another 
party, the reimbursement is recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be 
received if the museum settles the obligation.  The reimbursement is treated as a separate asset.  The 
amount recognised for the reimbursement does not exceed the amount of the provision. 

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.  Provisions 
are reversed if it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service 
potential will be required, to settle the obligation. 

Where discounting is used, the carrying amount of a provision increases in each period to reflect the passage 
of time.  This increase is recognised as an interest expense.

A provision is used only for expenditures for which the provision was originally recognised.  Provisions are not 
recognised for future operating expenditure.  If the museum has a contract that is onerous, the present 
obligation (net of recoveries) under the contract is recognised and measured as a provision.

A constructive obligation to restructure arises only when the museum has a detailed formal plan for the 
restructuring, identifying at least: the activity/operating unit or part of a operating unit concerned; the 
principal locations affected; the location, function, and approximate number of employees who will be 
compensated for services being terminated; the expenditures that will be undertaken; and when the plan 
will be implemented; and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the 
restructuring by starting to implement that plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it.

A restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those 
that are both: necessarily entailed by the restructuring; and not associated with the ongoing activities of the 
museum.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only 
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 
the museum.

A contingent liability :a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be 
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly 
within the control of the museum or a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised 
because: it is not probable than an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential 
will be required to settle the obligation; the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient 
reliability

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised.

1.14 Commitments

Items are classified as commitments when an entity has committed itself to future transactions that will 
normally result in the outflow of cash.

Disclosures are required in respect of unrecognised contractual commitments.

Commitments for which disclosure is necessary to achieve a fair presentation should be disclosed in a note to 
the financial statements, if both the following criteria are met:

• Contracts should be non-cancellable or only cancellable at significant cost (for example, 
contracts for computer or building maintenance services); and

• Contracts should relate to something other than the routine, steady, state business of the 
entity – therefore salary commitments relating to employment contracts or social security 
benefit commitments are excluded.
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1.15 Revenue from exchange transactions

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the reporting period when those 
inflows result in an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners.

An exchange transaction is one in which the entity receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, 
and directly gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, services or use of assets) to the 
other party in exchange.

Measurement

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of trade discounts 
and volume rebates. 

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied:
• the entity has transferred to the purchaser the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the 

goods;
• the entity retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually 

associated with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;
• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction 

will flow to the entity; and
• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Rendering of services

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue 
associated with the transaction is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at 
the reporting date.  The outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably when all the following 
conditions are satisfied:

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction 

will flow to the entity; 
• the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date can be 

measured reliably; and
• the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be 

measured reliably.

When services are performed by an indeterminate number of acts over a specified time frame, revenue is 
recognised on a straight line basis over the specified time frame unless there is evidence that some other 
method better represents the stage of completion.  When a specific act is much more significant than any 
other acts, the recognition of revenue is postponed until the significant act is executed.

When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably, 
revenue is recognised only to the extent of the expenses recognised that are recoverable.

Service revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting 
date.  Stage of completion is determined by the proportion that costs incurred to date bear to the total 
estimated costs of the transaction.

Interest, royalties and dividends

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity assets yielding interest, royalties and dividends or similar 
distributions is recognised when:

• It is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction 
will flow to the entity, and

• The amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.

Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit, using the effective interest rate method.

1.16  Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic benefits or service potential received and receivable by an 
entity, which represents an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners.

Conditions on transferred assets are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service 
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potential embodied in the asset is required to be consumed by the recipient as specified or future economic 
benefits or service potential must be returned to the transferor.

Control of an asset arise when the entity can use or otherwise benefit from the asset in pursuit of its objectives 
and can exclude or otherwise regulate the access of others to that benefit.

Exchange transactions are transactions in which one entity receives assets or services, or has liabilities 
extinguished, and directly gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of cash, goods, services, or 
use of assets) to another entity in exchange.

Expenses paid through the tax system are amounts that are available to beneficiaries regardless of whether 
or not they pay taxes.

Fines are economic benefits or service potential received or receivable by entities, as determined by a court 
or other law enforcement body, as a consequence of the breach of laws or regulations.

Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not exchange transactions.  In a non-exchange 
transaction, an entity either receives value from another entity without directly giving approximately equal 
value in exchange, or gives value to another entity without directly receiving approximately equal value in 
exchange.

Restrictions on transferred assets are stipulations that limit or direct the purposes for which a transferred asset 
may be used, but do not specify that future economic benefits or service potential is required to be returned 
to the transferor if not deployed as specified.

Stipulations on transferred assets are terms in laws or regulation, or a binding arrangement, imposed upon 
the use of a transferred asset by entities external to the reporting entity.

Tax expenditures are preferential provisions of the tax law that provide certain taxpayers with concessions 
that are not available to others.

The taxable event is the event that the government, legislature or other authority has determined will be 
subject to taxation.

Taxes are economic benefits or service potential compulsorily paid or payable to entities, in accordance 
with laws and or regulations, established to provide revenue to government.  Taxes do not include fines or 
other penalties imposed for breaches of the law.

Transfers are inflows of future economic benefits or service potential from non-exchange transactions, other 
than taxes.

Recognition

An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction recognised as an asset is recognised as revenue, 
except to the extent that a liability is also recognised in respect of the same inflow.

As the entity satisfies a present obligation recognised as a liability in respect of an inflow of resources from a 
non-exchange transaction recognised as an asset, it reduces the carrying amount of the liability recognised 
and recognises an amount of revenue equal to that reduction.

Measurement

Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured at the amount of the increase in net assets 
recognised by the entity.

When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, the entity recognises an asset, it also recognises revenue 
equivalent to the amount of the asset measured at its fair value as at the date of acquisition, unless it is also 
required to recognise a liability.  Where a liability is required to be recognised it will be measured as the best 
estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation at the reporting date, and the amount of the 
increase in net assets, if any, recognised as revenue.  When a liability is subsequently reduced, because the 
taxable event occurs or a condition is satisfied, the amount of the reduction in the liability is recognised as 
revenue.

Transfers

Apart from Services in kind, which are not recognised, the entity recognises an asset in respect of transfers 
when the transferred resources meet the definition of an asset and satisfy the criteria for recognition as an 
asset.
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The entity recognises an asset in respect of transfers when the transferred resources meet the definition of an 
asset and satisfy the criteria for recognition as an asset.

Transferred assets are measured at their fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Gifts and donations, including goods in-kind

Gifts and donations, including goods in kind, are recognised as assets and revenue when it is probable that 
the future economic benefits or service potential will flow to the entity and the fair value of the assets can be 
measured reliably.

Services in-kind

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the entity recognise services in-kind that are significant to its 
operations and/or service delivery objectives as assets and recognise the related revenue when it is 
probable that the future economic benefits or service potential will flow to the entity and the fair value of the 
assets can be measured reliably.

Where services in-kind are not significant to the entity’s operations and/or service delivery objectives and/or 
do not satisfy the criteria for recognition, the entity disclose the nature and type of services in-kind received 
during the reporting period.

1.17 Cost of sales

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period 
in which the related revenue is recognised.  The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable 
value and all surplus (deficit) of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss 
occurs.  The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising from an increase in net 
realisable value, is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the 
period in which the reversal occurs.

The related cost of providing services recognised as revenue in the current period is included in cost of sales.

Contract costs comprise:
• costs that relate directly to the specific contract;
• costs that are attributable to contract activity in general and can be allocated to the 

contract on a systematic and rational basis; and
• such other costs as are specifically chargeable to the customer under the terms of the 

contract.

1.18 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are interest and other expenses incurred by an entity in connection with the borrowing of 
funds.

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

1.19 Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions

A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition in Rands, by applying to the foreign 
currency amount the spot exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the 
date of the transaction.

At each reporting date:
• foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate;
• non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 

translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction; and
• non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using 

the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates 
different from those at which they were translated on initial recognition during the period or in previous 
financial statements are recognised in surplus or deficit in the period in which they arise.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised directly in net assets, any exchange component of 
that gain or loss is recognised directly in net assets.  When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised 
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in surplus or deficit, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in surplus or deficit.

Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency are recorded in Rands by applying to the foreign 
currency amount the exchange rate between the Rand and the foreign currency at the date of the cash 
flow.

1.20 Comparative figures

Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to changes in presentation in the 
current year.

1.21 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made in vain and would have been avoided had 
reasonable care been exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement of 
financial performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred.  The expenditure is classified in 
accordance with the nature of the expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as 
revenue in the statement of financial performance.

1.22 Irregular expenditure

Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA is expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, 
incurred in contravention of or that is not in accordance with a requirement of any applicable legislation, 
including - 

(a) this Act; or
(b) the State Tender Board Act, 1968 (Act No. 86 of 1968), or any regulations made in terms of the 

Act; or
(c) any provincial legislation providing for procurement procedures in that provincial 

government.

National Treasury practice note no. 4 of 2008/2009 which was issued in terms of sections 76(1) to 76(4) of the 
PFMA requires the following (effective from 1 April 2008):

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial and which was condoned 
before year end and/or before finalisation of the financial statements must also be recorded appropriately 
in the irregular expenditure register.  In such an instance, no further action is also required with the exception 
of updating the note to the financial statements.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and for which 
condonement is being awaited at year end must be recorded in the irregular expenditure register.  No 
further action is required with the exception of updating the note to the financial statements.

Where irregular expenditure was incurred in the previous financial year and is only condoned in the following 
financial year, the register and the disclosure note to the financial statements must be updated with the 
amount condoned.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and which was not 
condoned by the National Treasury or the relevant authority must be recorded appropriately in the irregular 
expenditure register.  If liability for the irregular expenditure can be attributed to a person, a debt account 
must be created if such a person is liable in law.  Immediate steps must thereafter be taken to recover the 
amount from the person concerned.  If recovery is not possible, the accounting officer or accounting 
authority may write off the amount as debt impairment and disclose such in the relevant note to the financial 
statements.  The irregular expenditure register must also be updated accordingly.  If the irregular 
expenditure has not been condoned and no person is liable in law, the expenditure related thereto must 
remain against the relevant programme/expenditure item, be disclosed as such in the note to the financial 
statements and updated accordingly in the irregular expenditure register.

1.23  Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research is recognised as an expense when it is incurred.

An asset arising from development is recognised when:
• it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use or sale.
• there is an intention to complete and use or sell it.
• there is an ability to use or sell it.
• it will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential.
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• there are available technical, financial and other resources to complete the development 
and to use or sell the asset.

• the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be measured reliably.

1.24 Budget information

The National Museum’s budget is compiled on a cash basis with an economic classification.  It covers the 
same period as the Financial Statements, namely 1 April to 31 March of each year.

1.25  Related parties

A related party is a person or an entity with the ability to control or jointly control the other party, or exercise 
significant influence over the other party, or vice versa, or an entity that is subject to common control, or joint 
control.

Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities.

Joint control is the agreed sharing of control over an activity by a binding arrangement, and exists only when 
the strategic financial and operating decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous consent of the 
parties sharing control (the venturers).

Related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between the reporting entity and a 
related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity, 
but is not control over those policies.

Management are those persons responsible for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, 
including those charged with the governance of the entity in accordance with legislation, in instances 
where they are required to perform such functions.

Close members of the family of a person are considered to be those family members who may be expected 
to influence, or be influenced by, that management in their dealings with the entity.

2. New standards and interpretations

2.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the entity has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for 
the current financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

2.2 Standards and Interpretations early adopted

The entity has chosen to early adopt the following standards and interpretations:

Standard/ Interpretation:

Standard/ Interpretation:

Effective date: 
Years beginning on 
or after

2.3 Standards and interpretations issued, but not yet effective
The entity has not applied the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are 
mandatory for the entity's accounting periods beginning on or after 01 April 2019 or later periods:

Expected impact:

Effective date: 
Years beginning on 
or after

01 April 2019

01 April 2019

01 April 2019

01 April 2019

01 April 2019

GRAP 20: Related parties

GRAP 105: Transfers of functions between entities under 
common control
GRAP 106 (as amended 2016): Transfers of functions 
between entities not under common control
GRAP 108: Statutory Receivables

GRAP 109: Accounting by Principals and Agents

Expected impact:

Unlikely there will be 
a material impact 
Unlikely there will be 
a material impact 
Unlikely there will be 
a material impact 
Unlikely there will be 
a material impact 
Unlikely there will be 
a material impact 
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Standard/ Interpretation: Effective date: 
Years beginning on 
or after

01 April 2019

01 April 2019

01 April 2019

01 April 2019

IGRAP 11: Consolidation – Special purpose entities

IGRAP 12: Jointly controlled entities – Non-monetary 
contributions by ventures
IGRAP 17: Service Concession Arrangements where a 
Grantor Controls a Significant Residual Interest in an Asset 
IGRAP 18: Interpretation of the Standard of GRAP on 
Recognition and Derecognition of Land

Expected impact:

Unlikely there will be 
a material impact 
Unlikely there will be 
a material impact 
Unlikely there will be 
a material impact 
Unlikely there will be 
a material impact

GRAP 12 (as amended 2016): Inventories

Amendments to the Standard of GRAP on Inventories resulted from inconsistencies in measurement 
requirements in GRAP 23 and other asset-related Standards of GRAP in relation to the treatment of 
transaction costs.  Other changes resulted from changes made to IPSAS 12 on Inventories (IPSAS 12) as a 
result of the IPSASB's Improvements to IPSASs 2015 issued in March 2016.

The most significant changes to the Standard are:
• General improvements: To clarify the treatment of transaction costs and other costs incurred 

on assets acquired in non-exchange transactions to be in line with the principle in GRAP 23 
(paragraph .12)

• IPSASB amendments: To align terminology in GRAP 12 with that in IPSAS 12. The term 
“ammunition” in IPSAS 12 was replaced with the term “military inventories” and provides a 
description of what it comprises in accordance with Government Finance Statistics 
terminology.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 April 2018. 

The entity has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2019 financial statements. 

The impact of the amendment is set out in note  Changes in Accounting Policy.

GRAP 17 (as amended 2016): Property, Plant and Equipment

Amendments to the Standard of GRAP on Property, Plant and Equipment resulted from editorial changes to 
the original text and inconsistencies in measurement requirements in GRAP 23 and other asset-related 
Standards of GRAP in relation to the treatment of transaction costs.  Other changes resulted from changes 
made to IPSAS 17 on Property, Plant and Equipment (IPSAS 17) as a result of the IPSASB’s Improvements to 
IPSASs 2014 issued in January 2015 and Improvements to IPSASs 2015 issued in March 2016.

The most significant changes to the Standard are:
• General improvements: To clarify the treatment of transaction costs and other costs incurred 

on assets acquired in non-exchange transactions to be in line with the principle in GRAP 23 
(paragraph .12); and To clarify the measurement principle when assets may be acquired in 
exchange for a non-monetary asset or assets, or a combination of monetary and non-
monetary assets.

• IPSASB amendments: To clarify the revaluation methodology of the carrying amount and 
accumulated depreciation when an item of property, plant, and equipment is revalued; To 
clarify acceptable methods of depreciating assets; To align terminology in GRAP 17 with that 
in IPSAS 17. The term “specialist military equipment” in IPSAS 17 was replaced with the term 
“weapon systems” and provides a description of what it comprises in accordance with 
Government Finance Statistics terminology; and To define a bearer plant and include bearer 
plants within the scope of GRAP 17, while the produce growing on bearer plants will remain 
within the scope of GRAP 27.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 April 2018.

The entity has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2019 financial statements.

The impact of the amendment is set out in note  Changes in Accounting Policy.

GRAP 103 (as amended 2016): Heritage Assets

Amendments to the Standard of GRAP on Heritage Assets resulted from inconsistencies in measurement 
requirements in GRAP 23 and other asset-related Standards of GRAP in relation to the treatment of 
transaction costs. Other changes resulted from editorial changes to the original text.
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The most significant changes to the Standard are
• General improvements: To clarify the treatment of transaction costs and other costs incurred 

on assets acquired in non-exchange transactions to be in line with the principle in GRAP 23 
(paragraph .12); and To clarify the measurement principle when assets may be acquired in 
exchange for a non-monetary asset or assets, or a combination of monetary and non-
monetary assets.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 April 2018. 

The entity has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2019 financial statements. 

The impact of the amendment is set out in note  Changes in Accounting Policy.
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3. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The National Museum holds heritage assets which are measured in accordance with GRAP 103.  During the 
financial year, heritage assets amounted to R138,917.00.  Please see below for a detail of heritage assets 
according to their class.

Heritage assets may not be disposed off, unless written approval is obtained from the Minister of Arts and 
Culture.  No other restrictions on title of the Museum to the heritage assets exist.

No heritage assets were pledged as security for liabilities.

A register containing information required by section 51 of the Public Finance Management Act is available 
for inspection at the registered office of the entity.

A register containing the information required by section 51 of the Public Finance Management Act is 
available for inspection at the registered office of the entity.
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4. Heritage assets (continued)

The following heritage assets were not recognised due to a reliable measurement not being possible on initial 
recognition is as follows:

Acarology

The Acarology collection meets the definition of a heritage asset as it is controlled by NMB and offers 
scientific research value to other institutions, students and academics, thus bringing service benefits to the 
NMB.  However neither the cost nor the fair value of the collection or its parts can be reliably measured.  The 
collection will be declared as a heritage asset as a whole with a zero monetary value.  The South African 
National Bio-informatics Institutions (SANBI) supplied a letter recommending that the collection should be 
declared as a heritage with a zero monetary value.

Arachnology

Although there is a trade in certain large and/or rare arachnid, either pinned or alive, the collection housed 
at NMB is entirely a wet collection and does not contain any specimens with decorative aesthetic qualities.  
Thus the specimens have no commercial value and their cost cannot be reliably measured.  The South 
African National Bio-informatics Institute (SANBI) supplied a letter recommending that the collection should 
be declared as heritage with a zero monetary value.

Botany

The Botany collection meets the definition of a heritage asset as it is controlled by NMB and institutions, 
students, academics, thus bringing service benefits to NMB.  However neither the cost nor the fair value of this 
collection or its parts can be reliably measured.  The collection will be declared as a heritage asset as a 
whole with a zero monetary value.  There is a trade in pressed flowers that have aesthetic qualities as works of 
art and as antique items, but there is a total absence of trade for these scientific specimens.  The South 
African National Bio-informatics Institute supplied a letter recommending that the collection should be 
declared as a heritage with a zero monetary value.

Entomology

The Entomology collection meets the definition of a heritage asset as it is controlled by NMB and offers 
scientific research value to other institutions, students and academics, thus bringing service benefits to NMB.  
However neither the cost nor the fair value of this collection or its parts can be reliably measured.  The 
collection will be declared as a heritage asset as a whole with a zero monetary value.

Within this collection there is a collection of Colophon beetles.  These are highly collectable and can fetch 
high prices on the black market, but there is no legal trade in them in South Africa.  There is no commercial 
value to the rest of the collection and no reliable way to measure its cost.

Mammalogy & Florisbad

The Mammalogy collection meets the definition of a heritage asset as it is controlled by NMB and offers 
scientific research value to other institutions, students and academics, thus bringing service benefits to NMB.  
However neither the cost nor the fair value of this collection or its parts can be reliably measured, except in 
the case of the taxidermy specimens.  These will be fair valued.  The remaining sub-collections hold a 
scientific value and no market value.  The collection with the exception of taxidermy will be declared as 
heritage assets with a zero monetary value.  The South African National Bio-informatics Institute (SANBI) 
supplied a letter recommending that the collection should be declared as heritage with a zero monetary 
value.

Palaeontology & Geology

This collection consists of fossils and a collection of bones and skeletons used for comparative research 
purposes.  It is illegal to trade in fossils and cannot be reliably measured.  The collection will be declared as 
heritage with a zero monetary rating.  The South African National Bio-informatics Institute (SANBI) supplied a 
letter recommending that the collection should be declared as heritage with a zero monetary value.

Ornithology

The Ornithology collection meets the definition of a heritage asset as it is controlled by NMB and offers 
scientific research value to other institutions, students and academics, thus bringing service benefits to NMB.  
However neither the cost nor the fair value of this collection or its parts can be reliably measured, except in 
the case of the taxidermy specimens.  These will be fair valued.



103

The remaining sub-collections hold a scientific value and no market value.  The collection with the exception 
to taxidermy will be declared heritage assets with a zero monetary value.  The South African National Bio-
informatics Institute (SANBI) supplied a letter recommending that the collection should be declared as 
heritage with a zero monetary value.

Herpetology

The Herpetology collection meets the definition of a heritage asset as it is controlled by NMB and offers 
scientific research value to other institutions, students and academics, thus bringing service benefits to NMB.  
However neither the cost nor the fair value of this collection or its parts can be reliably measured.  The 
collection will be declared as a heritage asset as a whole with a zero monetary value.  This collection consists 
of wet specimens preserved in alcohol and not displayed with any aesthetic sensibilities.  There is record of a 
market for aesthetically displayed specimens in glass dioramas, but this is not the case with this collection 
which is of scientific value.  The South African National Bio-informatics Institute (SANBI) supplied a letter 
recommending that the collection should be declared as heritage with a zero monetary value.

5. Employee benefit obligations

Defined benefit plan
The defined benefit liability as disclosed below are represented by two different post - employment benefits.  
None of the benefits set out below are externally funded.

Post retirement medical aid plan
Active members receive a fixed subsidy of 60% of medical aid contributions during the current working year, 
up to a specified maximum employer contribution.  The spouse or adult dependant of an active member is 
entitled to a 66.67% subsidy of their contributions.  This proportion of the subsidy will continue to be paid in the 
event of the principal member's death.

Continuation members receive a fixed subsidy of 60% of medical aid contributions during the current 
working year, up to a specified maximum employer contribution.  The spouse or adult dependant of a 
continuation member is entitled to a 66.67%subsidy of their contributions.

Pension benefits
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